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CPHCL Company Limited
Report and Financial Statements 31 December 2023

Directors’ report

The Direcrors present their report together with the audited financial sratements of CPHCL Company Limired,
{the ‘Company’ or ‘CPHCL’) and the consolidated financial statements of the Group of which it is the parent,
for the year ended 31 December 2023,

TPrincipal Activities

The Group’s main business is the ownership, development and operation of hotels, leisure facilities, and other
activities related to the rourism industry. The Group is also actively engaged in the provision of residendal
accommoedation, the rental of retail and office space, the originacdion of projects for the Group and third-party
investors and services related 1o construction, project management and catering,

Results and Review of Performance

Total revenue for the year under review increased 1o €326.89 million from €270.35 million last yeat, an increase
of 21%. The revenue levels achieved in 2023 represent 105% of the 2019 pre-COVID-19 revenue figures. In
reviewing this performance, it is important to note that the financial performance for 2023, particularly for the
Group’s operations in Russia, continued to be impacted by the military conflict which erupted in February
2022 berween Russia and Ukraine. This confliet led to internadonal sanctions on Russia, which had an effect
on the Group’s results and assets held in Russia as disclosed in Note 5.2, The geopolitical situation between
Russia and the West resulted in a drop in internadonal business which is pardally affecting the operational
results in Russia. On a positive note, in spite of the situadon in and around the Russian market, the hotel
continued to strengthen its occupancy levels in 2023 with the occupancy for 2023 amounting to 44% or 73%
of the pre COVID-19 accupancy levels, this in view of the local trade that the hotel always enjoyed.

On the strength of the increased revenue, the Group recorded an operating tesult before depreciation and fair
value adjustments of €59.82 million compared to €52 million in 2022, an increase of €7.82 million. In 2023, the
Group incurred preopening costs amounting to €1.9 million relating to the opening in Rome and Brussels.

In 2023, the Group recognised in its Income Statement, uplifts on its investment properties amounting to €6.42
miflion. These related mainly to an uplift of €7.90 million on the Ttipoli Commercial Centre, on account of
consistent cashflows based on long term agreements, offset by a decrease in fair value on the St. Perersburg
investment property of €1.70 million. '

In 2023, the Group is reporting in ts Income Statement an exchange loss of €2.04 million, compared to a gain
on exchange of €15.38 million the year before. The positive movement in exchange differences in the prior
year was mainly related to the St. Petersburg property and to the repayment of the bank loan on this property
in May 2022. This repayment had eliminated future exchange rate volatlity from the Income Statement on this
loan.

The Group’s share of net profit of associates and joint ventures, principally relates to MIH p.lc. through its
principal subsidiary company Palm City Limited, owner of the Palm City Residences in Libya, which
contributed €6.29 million to the Group’s profitability (2022: €5.38 million).

During the cutrent year, the Group also recognised uplifts on the London hotel 2mountng o €17.3 million,
on the Corinthia Hotel Lisbon amounting to €12.2 million and €37.5 million on its Malta properties, on account
of continued recovery and improved operational performance. These uplifts were offset by fair value losses
recognised on the two properties in Hungary amounting in total ro €8 million, following the delay in recovery
for this operation due to inflationary pressures including a hike in energy prices.
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Directors’ report - continued

The Group recorded a combined currency translation loss of €19.90 million in Other Comprehensive Income,
relative to a loss of €25.27 million registered in 2022, The weakening of the Rouble in 2023 relative to the
reporting cureency of the Group, which is the Euro, resulted in a loss on translation of the investment in Russia.
This was partially offset by gains on the Pound Sterling in relation to the Group’s operatiens in London.

The Group registered total comprehensive income of €27.79 million against a loss of €20.71 million registered
in 2022, The share of total comprehensive income attributable to the shareholders of CPHCL amounnted to
€2.21 million for the year under review. The corresponding figure for 2022 was a loss of €15.34 million.

Detzils of the results for the year under review are set out in the consolidazed income statement and the
statement of comprehensive income on pages 11 1o 12 and in the related notes to the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023,

At 31 December 2023, the Group is reporting a posidve working capital of €9.13 million relative to a deficie of
€25.12 million reported in 2022.

Future Developments

The Corinthia Group’s business as a developer and operator of hotels and real estate has continued 1o evolve
and diversify over the years with the result that there is no major dependence on any single operation.

The Gtoup’s main strategy is to further grow the Corinthia Brand through Corinthia Hotels Limited {CHL) by
handling more operadons under management wotldwide in the luxury space. The brand will add three new
luxury hotels operared by CHL in Brussels, New York and Bucharest in 2024, in Rome and Doha in 2025,
Riyad i 2026 and Maldives in 2027,

With most of the Group’s owned hotels having fully recovered from the pandemic, conversion ratios from
Revenue to operating results before depreciation and fair value movements are expected to continue to
improve.

The inflationary pressures, high interest rates and tight labowr markets experienced in the past years are
expected to persist. We continue to counter or minimise these pressures by retaining as many of the efficiencies
and cost discipline gained duting the pandemic.

In Malia, the the permitting process on the Qasis project is ongoing, expecied by year end, after which financing
will be put in place for constructon to commence.

Going concern

The Directors have reviewed the Company’s and the Group’s operational and cash flow forecasts. Based on
this review, after making enquiries, and in the light of the current financial position, the existing banking
facilitics and other funding arrangements, the Directors confitm that they have a reasonable expectation that
the Company and the Group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future,
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Directors’ report - continued

Principal risks and uncertainties

The hotel industry globally is marked by strong and increasing consolidation and many of the Group’s cusrent
and potential competitors may thus have bigger name recognition, larger customer bases and greater financial
and other resources than the companies within the Group.

The Group is subject to general market and economic risks that may have a significant impact on the valuatons
of its properties (comprising hotels and investment property). A number of the Group’s major opetations are
located in stable economies. The Group also owns certain subsidiaries that have operadons situated in emerging
or unstable rmarkets. Such markets present different econemic and polidcal conditons from those of the more
developed markets and present less social, political and economic stability. Businesses in unstable markets are
not operating in 4 market-oriented economy as known in other developed or emerging markets, Further
information abeut the significant uncertainties being faced in Libya and Russia are included in Note 5.

The Group is exposed to varicus risks arising through its use of financial instrumnents including market risk,
credit risk and liquidity tisk, which result from both its operating actvides. The most significant financial risks
as well as an explanadon of the risk management policies employed by the Group are included in Note 37 of
the financial statements.

Reserves

The movements on reserves are as set out in the statements of changes in equity.

Directors

The following have served as directors of CPHCL during 2023 and until the date of these financial statements:

Mr Alfred Pisani - Chairman

Mr Khaled Amr Algonsel

Mr Emhemmed AB Ghula - resigned 220 January 2024

Mr Mohamed Monder Al Moktar Alghnimi - appointed 220 January 2024
Mr Abdulrahman A M Dibiba

Mr Joseph Pisani

Mr Victor Pisani

The Company’s Articles of Association de not require any of the directors to retite,
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Directors’ report - continued
Statement of Directors’ responsibilities for the Financial Statements

The Directors are required by the Maltese Companies Act, (Cap. 386) to prepare financial statements which
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at the end of each reporting
period and of the profit or loss for that period.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for:

" ensuring that the financial statements have been drawn up in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU;

" selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies;

"  making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances; and

" ensuring that the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate
to presume that the Company will continue in business as a going concern.

Even though not required by law, the Group has set up an independent audit committee which meets regularly.

The Directors are also responsible for designing, implementing and maintaining internal control as the
Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and that comply with the Maltese Companies Act, (Cap. 380).
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers have expressed their willingness to continue in office. A resolution proposing the re-

appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditors of the Company will be submitted at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting.

—

Approved by the board of Directors and signed on its behalf by:

(0]

Joseph Pisani Khaled Anyr Algonsel
Director Director

22 Europa Centre,
Floriana FRN 1400,
Malta

30 April 2024
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[ndependent anditor’s report
To the Shareholders of CPHCL Company Limited

Report on the andit of the financial statements

Our opinion

In our opinion:

e The Group financial statements and Parent Company financial statements (the “financial statements™) of
CPHCL Company Limited give a true and fair view of the Group and the Parent Company’s financial
position as at 31 December 2023, and their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’) as adopted by the EU; and

e The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requitements of the Maltese
Companies Act (Cap. 386).

What we have audited

CPHCL Company Limited’s financial statements, set out on pages 11 to 128 comprise:

e the Consolidated and Parent Company income statements and statements of total comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2023;

e the Consolidated and Parent Company statements of financial position as at the year then ended;
e the Consolidated and Parent Company statements of changes in equity for the year then ended;
e the Consolidated and Parent Company statements of cash flows for the year then ended; and

e the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group and the Parent Company in accordance with the International Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements of the
Accountancy Profession (Code of Ethics for Warrant Holders) Directive issued in terms of the Accountancy
Profession Act (Cap. 281) that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Malta. We have fulfilled
out other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these Codes.
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[ndependent anditor’s report - continued
To the Shareholders of CPHCL Company Limited
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We draw attention to the Note 5 in the financial statements, which highlights the significant geopolitical risks
associated with Russia and in Libya and their impact on the Group’s financial statements.

As it is uncertain as to when these risks will subside, the estimation uncertainty related to the valuation of the
Group’s assets in these territories remains heightened. We believe that different plausible scenarios may impact
the financial performance of both the Russia and Libya operations and the valuation of related assets in a
significant manner. Developments and revisions to forecast economic and market conditions after the date of
approval of the financial statements might give rise to potential changes in the outcome of management
assessments catried out subsequent to that date. This matter is considered to be of fundamental importance to
the users’ understanding of the financial statements because of the potential impact that this uncertainty may
have on the valuadon of the Group’s assets in Russia and Libya.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’ report
(but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon).

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon except as explicitly stated within the Report on other legal and
regulatory requiresients.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this
auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Independent anditor’s report - continued
To the Shareholders of CPHCL Company Limited

Respansibilities of the directors and those charged with governance for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the requirements of the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386),
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Parent
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the
Parent Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the andit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a marerial misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obrin an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s and Parent Company’s internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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[ndependent anditor’s report - wntinned
To the Shareholders of CPHCL Company Limited

lutditor’s responsibilities for the aundit of the financial statements - continued

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s or the Parent Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the group or the parent company to cease to continue as
a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obrain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activies within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identfy during our audit.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

The Report and Financial Statements 2023 contains other areas required by legislation or regulation on which we
are required to report. The Directors are responsible for these other areas.

The table below sets out these areas presented within the Annual Report, our related responsibilities and
reporting, in addition to our responsibilities and reporting reflected in the Ozher information section of our report.
Except as outlined in the table, we have not provided an audit opinion or any form of assurance.



Independent auditor’s report - wntinued
To the Shareholders of CPHCL Company Limited

Area of the Report
and Financial
Statements 2023 and
the related Directors
responsibilities

Directors’ report
(on pages 1 to 4)

The Maltese
Companies Act (Cap.
380) requires the
directors to prepare a
Directors’ report,
which includes the
contents required by
Artcle 177 of the Act
and the Sixth Schedule
to the Act.

3

Our responsibilities

We are required to consider whether the
information given in the Directors’ report
for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is
consistent with the financial statements.

We are also required to express an
opinion as to whether the Directors’
report has been prepared in accordance
with the applicable legal requirements.

In addition, we are required to state
whether, in the light of the knowledge
and understanding of the Company and
its environment obtained in the course of
our audit, we have identified any material
misstatements in the Directors’ report,
and if so to give an indication of the
nature of any such misstatements.

Other matters on which we are required to
report by exception

We also have responsibilities under the
Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386) to report
to you if, in our opinion:

e adequate accounting records have not
been kept, or returns adequate for our
audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us.

e the financial statements are not in
agreement with the accounting records
and returns.

e we have not received all the
information and explanations which,
to the best of our knowledge and
belief, we require for our audit.

Our reporting

In our opinion:

e the information given in the
Directors’ report for the
financial year for which the
financial statements are
prepared is consistent with the
tinancial statements; and

e the Directors’ report has been
prepared in accordance with the
Maltese Companies Act (Cap.
386).

We have nothing to report to you in
respect of the other responsibilides,
as explicitly stated within the Ozber
information section.

We have nothing to report to
you in respect of these
responsibilities.




Independent anditor’s report - continued
To the Shareholders of CPHCL Company Limited

Other matter - use of this report

Our report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Parent Company’s shareholders as
a body in accordance with Article 179 of the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386) and for no other purpose. We
do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person
to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior written
consent.

@@é&b

Lucienne Pace Ross
Principal

For and on behalf of
PricewaterhouseCoopers

78, Mill Street

Zone 5, Central Business District
Qormi

Malta

30 April 2024
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Income statements

The Group The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
Notes €000 €000 €000 €000
Revenue 6.1 326,893 270,345 6,899 7,861
Costs of providing services 6.2 (17,858) (141,987 - -
155,035 128,358 6,899 7,861
Marketing costs (12,893) (9,107 - -
Administrative expenses 6.2 (59,166) (46,960) (5,090) (5,659}
Other operating {costs)/income (23,158) {20,290 - 4
Other operating results before depreciation,
impairments and fair value movements 59,818 52,001 1,809 2,200
Depteciation and armortsation 6.2 (30,092) {31,634 (25) )
Immpairments on investments in subsidiaries 14.2 - - (4,201) (1,627)
Other losses arising on property, plant and
equipment 12 (1,680) (100) ) )
Other operational exchange (losses)/gains (1,480) 425 {186) 99
Impairment gain/loss on pro \
pl;ant and égc?::;pment PropEy 12 275 (1,207) B )
Net changes in fair value of investment property 11 6,423 (6,6200 - -
Results from operating activities 33,264 12,865 (2,603) 669
Net changes in fair value of financial assets
through profit and loss 19 {1,541) (3,640 245 (714
Finance income
- interest and similar income 8 1,251 563 1,091 830
Finance costs
= Interest expense and similar
charges 8 (42,511} (31,885) (5,192) (4,174
- net exchange differences on 8 2,037) 15,582 i} i
borrowings
Share of net profit of associates
and joint vearures accounted for
using the equity method 151 6,360 5,317 - -
Other (losses)/gains (40) 80 (14) (126)
Reclassification of curtency translation reserve to
profir and loss - {264 - -
Loss before tax (5,254) (1,382} (6,473) (3,515)
Tax expense Y 5,817 (2,051} ) (101}
Loss for the year (11,071) (3,433) {6,474) (3,616}
Loss for the year attributable to:
= Owners of CPHCL (5,482) (5,644) {6,474) (3,610}
- Non-controlling intetests (5,589) 2211 - -

(11,071) (3433)  (6474) (3,616)

"
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Statements of total comprehensive income

The Group The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
Notes €000 €000 €000 £000

Loss for the year CAL0T) (3433 (6474  (3,616)

Other comprehensive income
Ttems that will ot be subseqrenihy

reclassifeed to profit or loss
Net surplus arising on revaluadon

of hotel properties 12 58,999 2,959 - -
Deferred tax arising on revaluation of hotel

properties 9 (15,283) 1,758 - -
Share of other comprehensive

income of joint ventures and

associates accounted for using the

equity method:
- Surplus arising on revaluation of hotel

and other property 15.1 266 230 - -

Ttems that mey be subsequently reclassified to
profis or loss
Currency transladon differences {19,687} (25,377} - -
Deferred tax arising on currency translation
differences 0 3,701 (671} - -
Other - 22 - -
Share of other comprehensive income
of joint ventures and associates
accounted for using the equity
method:
- Currency translation differences 15.1 (209) 107 - -
Ttems reclassified to profit and loss
Reclassificatdon of currency transkation
reserve to profic or loss - 264 - -

Other comprehensive income for the
year, net of tax

27,787  (20,708) - -

Total comprehensive income

for the year 16,716  (24,141) (6,474) (3,616)

Total comprehensive income for the year

attributable to:

- Owners of CPHCL 221 (15,342) (6,474) (3,616
- Non-controlling interests 14,505 (8,799 - -

16,716  (24141)  (6,474) (3,616)

12
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Statements of financial position

The Group The Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2023 2022 2023 2022
Notes €000 £000 €000 €000
Assets
Non-current
Intangible assets 10 2,463 9,033 - -
Property, plant and equipment 12 1,383,567 1,299,101 140 135
Right-of-use assets 13 18,628 15,402 142 56
Investment propetty 11 179,377 185,624 820 820
Deferred tax assets 29 37,766 36,166 3,555 3,555
Investments in subsidiaries 14 - - 350,659 355,119
Investnents in associates and
joint ventures 15 108,103 104,704 24,002 24,002
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 19 341 5,373 - -
Other financial assets at amoztsed cost 10 6,120 9,117 24,623 29,225
Trade and other receivables 18 687 1,539 - -
Total non-current assets 1,747,122 1,666,059 403,941 412912
Current
Inventories 17 16,755 17,030 - -
Other financial assers at amortised cost 16 110 153 - -
Trade and ather receivables 18 45,042 42,789 16,062 10,706
Current tax assets 2,300 283 1,580 36
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss 19 386 3,607 1,479 4,282
Assers placed under truse
arrangement 26.2 77 77 - -
Cash and cash equivalents 20 101,398 71,657 9,448 6,261
166,068 141,596 22,569 21,285
Assets classified as held for sale 21 62 102 - -
Total current assets 166,130 141,698 22,569 21,285
Total assets 1,913,252 1,807,757 426,510 434,197

13
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Statements of financial position - continued

Equity and liabilities
Equity

Issued capital

Other reserves
Retained earnings

Capital and reserves attributable w
owners of CPHCL

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

The Group The Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 Decembet
2023 2022 2023 2022
Notes €000 £000 £000 €000
22 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000
23 142,157 135,677 2,950 2,950
249,002 253,271 269,599 276,073
411,159 408,948 292,549 299023
14.3 480,772 466,477 - -
891,931 875,425 292,549 209023

14
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Statements of financial position - continued

Liabilities
Non-current

Trade and other payables
Bank borrowings

Bonds

Lease liabilities

Other financial liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Indemnification liabilities
Provisions

Total non-current liabilities

Current

Trade and other payables
Bank borrowings

Bonds

Lease liabilities

Other financial liabilities
Current tax liabilities

Total current liabilities

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

Notes

30
25
26
13
27

The Group The Company

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2023 2022 2023 2022
€000 €000 €000 €000
10,121 11,923 436 564
345,006 291,819 207 800
336,492 311,106 - -
17,943 15,018 116 -
34,685 33,577 105,503 103,332
119,763 101,471 . -
- = 17,168 17,168
368 703 - -
864,378 765,617 123,430 121,864
99,578 92,702 9,908 11,686
41,352 59,785 594 1,292
10,362 0,985 - -
2,889 2,214 29 57
91 113 - 275

2,671 1,916 -
156,943 166,715 10,531 13,310
1,021,321 932,332 133,961 135,174
1,913,252 1,807,757 426,510 434,197

The financial statements on pages 11 to 128 were approved by the board of directors, authorised for issue on

30 April 2024 and signed on its behalf by:

)

& & UQ&QU'&;

osephvPisani
Director

\
f

Khaled Ams-Algonsel

Director
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Statement of changes in equity - the Group

Total
attributable Non

Issued Other Retained to owners controlling Total

capital reserves eamings of CPHCL interest equity

Note €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Balance at 1 Jannary 2022 20,000 146,527 257,763 424,290 473,276 899,566
Comprehensive income:

Loss for the year - - (5044 (5,644) 2,211 (3,433)

Other comprehensive
income - (9.698) - (9,698) (11,010)  (20,708)

Total comprehensive

income - {9698)  (5,644) (15,342) (8,799)  (24,141)

Transfer to retained earnings 23 - (1,152) 1,152 - - -

Balance at 31 December

2022 20,000 135,677 253,271 408,948 466,477 875425

Balance at 1 January 2023 20,000 135,677 253,271 408,948 466,477 875425

Comprehensive income:

Loss for the year - - {5,482) {(5:482) (5,589 {11,071)
Other comprehensive
income - 7.693 - 7.693 20,094 27,787
Total comprehensive - 7693 (5482) 2,211 14,505 16,716
mncome
Transfer to retnined earnings 23 - (1,213) 1,213 - - -
Transactions with owners:
Dividends diseributed 14.3 - - - - (210) (210}
Total transactions with ) ) ) ) 210) 210)
OWIlers
B;{l);g“e at 31 December 20,000 142,157 249,002 41,159 480,772 891,931
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Statement of changes in equity - the Company

Issned Other Retained Total
capital 1eserves earnings equity
€000 €000 €000 €000
Balance at 1 January 2022 20,000 2,850 279,689 302,639
Comprchensive income:
Loss for the year - - (3,616) {3.616)
Total comprehensive income - - {3,616) (3,616)
Balance at 31 December 2022 20,000 2,950 276,073 299,023
Comprehensive income;
Loss for the year - - (6,474) (6,474)
Toral comprehensive income - - (6,474) {6,474)
Balance at 31 December 2023 20,000 2,950 269,599 292,549
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Statements of cash flows

The Group The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
Notes €000 €000 €000 €000
Lose before tax (5,254) {1,382) (6,473) (3,515)
Adjustments 31 65,706 53,393 2,904 (524)
Working capital changes:
Inventories 189 (2.358) - -
Trade and other receivables (4,674) (11,362) 1,145 232
Trade and other payables 3,901 10,090 (2,252) (1,725
Cash generated from/(used in)
operating activities 59,268 48,381 (4,676) {5,532
Tax paid (1,785) (566) (2) -
Tax refund received 36 - 36 84
Net cash generated from/{used in)
operating activities 58,119 47,815 (4,642) (5,448)
Investing activities
Payments to acquire investment
property 11 105 (6,602) - -
Payments to acquire intangible assets 10 (1,043) (20} - -
Payments to acquire property, plant
and equipment 12 (58,820) (41,152} (12} (4)
Proceeds from disposal of financial
assets at FVIPL 3,845 6,575 3,342 302
Payments to acquire financial assets at
FVTPL (294) (420) (294) (276)
Payments for acquisition of
subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 34 - - (2) -
Loan advances to subsidiary companies - - 913 (20,953
Loan advances o associate companies - - 2,602 -
Dividends received 3,000 - 4,352 1,015
Interest received 1,251 562 95 229
Net cash (used in)/generated from
investing activities (51,956) (41,063} 10,996 (19,687)
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Statements of cash flows - continued

Note

Financing activities

Repayments of bank borrowings

Proceeds from bank botrowings

Proceeds from issue of bonds

Payments for redemption of bonds

Bond issve costs

Bank loan arrangement fees

Principal elements of lease payments

Repayments of loans from related
patties

Interest paid

Dividend payments

Net cash generated/(used in) from
financing activities

Net change in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year

Effect of translation of group
entities to presentation currency

Cash and cash equivalents at
end of year 20

The Group The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
€000 €000 €000 €000
(185,555) (60,187) (1,291) (1,464)
221,342 21,079 - -
30,102 - - B,
(4,110) - - -
(780) - - -
(2,846) - - -
(3,372) {3,486) (105) (7
2,511 (330 - (382)
(39,609) (28,312) (1,771) (1,837)
(210) - - -
17,413 (71,236) (3,167) (3,690)
23,576 {64,484) 3,187 (28,825)
66,629 138,264 6,261 35,086
2,438 {7,151) - -
92,643 66,629 9,448 06,261
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Notes to the financial statements

L General information

CPHCL Company Limited, (the ‘Company’), is a private limited liability company incorporated and
domiciled in Malta, The address of the Company’s registeted office and principal place of business is 22,
Europa Centre, Floriana FRN 1400, Malta, The Company is the ultimate parent company of the Group.

2, Nature of operations

CPHCL Company Limited and its subsidiaries’ {the ‘Group’ or ‘CPHCL’) principal activities include the
ownership, development and operation of hotels, leisure facilities, and other acdvities related to the
tourism industry and commercial centres. The Group is also actively engaged in the provision of
residential accommedation, project management services and industrial catering.

3.  Summary of material accounting policies

This note provides a list of the material accounting policies adopted in the preparadon of these
consolidated financial seatements. These policies have been consistentdy applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

3.1 DBasis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with of
International Financial Repordng Standatrds (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union (EU) and the
requiremnents of the Malrese Companies Act, (Cap.386).

The financial seatements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for financial assets
classified at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), the land and buildings class within property, plant
and equipment and investment property — which are measured at fair value.

The preparadon of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRSs as adopted by the EU
requires the use of certain accounting estimates. It alse requires the directors ro exercise their judgement
in the process of applying the Group’s and the Company’s accounting pelicies (see Note 4 - Crirical
accounting estimates and judgements).

Going concern

Operating conditions contnued to improve during 2023 as almost all operations recovered from the
effect of the COVID-19 pandemic. In 2023, the Group recorded an improved operating result before
depreciation and fair value adjustments of €59.82 millicn compared to €52 million last year, The Group
is projecting that consolidated revenue levels will continue to improve during 2024 and beyond as new
openings come into play.

As from February 2022, the Group’s operations in Russia were impacted in view of the military conflict
between Russia and Ukraine. The geopolitical situation between Russia and the west resulted in a drop
in internarional business to and from Russia, and in sanctions and councer sanctions being imposed

(Note 5.2).
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Summary of material accounting policies - continued
3.1 Basis of preparation - continued
Going concern - continued

In 2022, due to the evolving siteadon in and around the Russian matket, the Group opted o setle in
full its bank loan on its property in St. Petersburg, Naturally this has impacted the Group’s cashflows
and liquidity.

All COVID related arrangements that the Group had entered into with its funding banks both in Malta
and internationally, had reverted back to their pre COVID-19 terms in 2022 and all capital and interest
is being met when due. Whilst certain waivers on bank covenants were tequired dusing the pandemic,
no such waivers were necessary in 2023, The Group’s liquidity situation is being kept under constant
review, particularly in view of increased interest costs and certain projects and commitments that the
Group is currently engaged in.

At 31 December 2023, the Group had access to €159.67 million, comprising €49.10 millien of undrawn
committed facilities, €9,17 million of nmuilised bank overdrafts and €101.40 million of cash balances.
This liquidity position enables the Group to sustain its operations as well as meer its capital
commitments. Overall, the Group’s statement of financial positdon remains robust.

Accordingly, the Directors and senior management consider the going concetn assumption in the
preparation of the Group’s financial statements as appropriate as at the date of authorisadon for issue
of the 2023 financial statements. In their view, as at that date, there were no material uncertaindes that
may cast significant doubr on the Group’s ability to continue operating as a going concetn.

The board of directors and senior management remain vigilant on developments and will take
appropriate measures as and when necessary to ensure the continued viability of the Group.

Working capital position

The Group’s working capital positien as at the end of December 2023 reflects a surplus of €9.13 million
(2022: deficit of €25.02 million). The 2022 deficit was due to 2 bullet repayment of €29 million which
was due in 2023, hence classified as a current liabilicy as at December 2022. The Group managed to
successiully refinance this Joan,

Apart from the surplus cash flows generated from the Group’s operations and investment, the Group
maintains a policy of supplementing cash available for its working capital requirements with various
financing initiatives and, when market conditions permit the disposal of non-core assets. Further

disclosutes on liquidity risk are included in Note 35,
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Summary of material accounting policies - continued
3.2 Scandards, interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2023

The following amended standards become applicable for the cutrent reportng period. The Group did
not have to change its accounting policies or take retrospective adjustmentes as a result of adopting
these amended standards.

*  Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 — Disclosure of Accounting Policies
s IAS 12 Amendment — Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilides arising from a Single

Transaction
e  Amendment to 1AS 8 — Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Etrots

3.3 Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet effective

Certain new standards, amendments and interprerations to existing standards have been published by
the date of authorisadon for issue of these financial statements but are mandatory for accounting periods
beginning 1 January 2024 and after. The Group has not early adopted these revisions to the requirements
of IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the directors are of the opinion that there are no requirements that
will have a possible material impact on the Group’s current or future reporting periods and on
foreseeable future transactions.

3.4 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(i) Subsidiarics

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable retutns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those rerurns through irs power to direct the activities of the
entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are deconsolidated from the date that conuol ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed whete
necessaty to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the income
statement, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of
financial position respectively.

(7} Asiociates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or joint control.
This is generally the case where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. In the
Group’s financial statements, investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting (see (iif) below), aftet initally being recognised at cost.

22



CPHCL Company Limited
Report and Financial Statements 31 December 2023

Summary of material accounting policies - continued
3.4 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting - contdnued
(ifi) Egquity methed

Under the equity method of accoundng, the investments ate initially recognised at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisiion profits or losses of the investee in profit
ot loss, and the Group’s share of movemnents in other comprehensive income of the investee in other
comptehensive income. Dividends received or receivable from associates and joint ventures are
recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

When the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals of exceeds its interest in the
entity, including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the Group dees not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred obligatons or made payments on behalf of the other entity.

Untealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates and joint venwres are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s interest in these endties. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity
accounted investees have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Greup.

‘The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for impairment in accordance with the
policy described in Note 3,10,

3.5 Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures in the Company’s stand-alone
financial statements

In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venrures
are accounted for by the cost method of accounting i.e. at cost less impairment. Cost includes directly
attributable costs of the investment. Provisions are recorded where, in the opinion of the directors,
there is an impairment in value. Where there has been an impairment in the value of an investment, it
is recognised as an expense in the period in which the diminution is identified. The results of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are refected in the Company’s separate financial statements
only to the extent of dividends receivable. On disposal of an investment, the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is charged or credited to profit ot loss.

3.6 Foreign currency translation
{2} Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entides are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functonal cutrency’).
The consolidated and company financial statements are presented in Euro, which is CPHCL’s functdonal
and presentaton Cutrency.

(if)  Tramsactions and balances

Foreign currency transacdons are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transacticns and from the translatdon of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
at year end exchange rates are generally recognised in profit or loss. They are deferred in equity if they
relate to part of the net invesunent in a foreign operaton.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash balances are presented in the
income statement, within finance costs. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the
income statement on a net basis within results from operating activities as a separate line irem.
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Summary of material accounting policies - continued
3.6 Foreign currency translation - continued
(55)  Transactions and balances - continued

Non-monetary items that are measured ar fair value in a foreign currency are rranslated using the
cxchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss.

(iti}  Growp companies

The results and financial posidon of foreign operations that have a functional currency different from
the presentation curtency are eranslated into the presentation currency as follows:

¢ assers and ligbilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the
closing race at the date of that statement of financial posidon;

+ income and expenses for ¢ach income statement and statement of comprehensive income are
transhted at average exchange rates or a monthly weighted average rate when there are
significant fluctuzdons in the currency during the year (unless these are not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which
case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the wansactons); and

* all resuldng exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.,

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in foreign
enttes ate recognised in other comprehensive income. When a foreign operadon is sold or any
botrowings forming part of the net investment are repaid, the associated exchange differences are
reclassified to profit ot loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets
and liabilites of the foreign operation and eranslated at the closing tare.

3.7 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is inittally recorded at historical cost. Land and buildings are subsequently
shown at fair value, based on periodic valuations by professional valuers, less subsequent depreciation
for buildings. Valuadons are carried cut on a regular basis such that the carrying amount of property
does not differ materially from that which would be determined using fair values at the end of the
reporting period. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross
carrying amount of the asset, and the net amount is restated o the revalued amount of the asser, All
other property, plant and equipment is subsequently stated at historical cost less depreciation and
impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of
the items. Borrowing costs which are incurred for the purpose of acquiring or constructing a qualifying
asset are capiralised as part of its cost. Borrowing costs are capitalised while acquisition or consoructdon
is actively underway. Capitalisaton of bortowing costs is ceased once the asset is substantially complete
and is suspended if the development of the asset is suspended.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits assoctated with the irem will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All ather repairs and maintenance are
charged to profir or loss during the financial period in which they are incutred.
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Summary of material accounting policies - continued
3.7 Property, plant and equipment - continued

Increases in the carrying amount atising on revaluation of land and buildings are credited to other
comprehensive income and shown as a revaluation reserve in shareholders' equity. However, the
increase shall be recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the
same asset previously recognised in profit or loss. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same
asset are charged in other comprehensive income and debited against the revaluation reserve; all other
decreases are charged to profit or loss. In some cases each year the difference between depreciaton
based on the revalued carrying amount of the asset (the depreciation charged to profit or loss) and
depreciation based on the asset’s original cost, net of any related deferred income taxes, is transferred
from the revaluation reserve to retained earnings.

Depteciadon is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost or revalued amounts of the
assets to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Years
Frechold buildings 33-150
Plant and equipment 3-20
Motor vehicles 5-6

Freehold land is not depreciated as it is deemed to have an indefinite life. Assets in the couse of
construction and payments on account are not depreciated,

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

Property, plant and equipment is reviewed for impairmenr whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicare that the carrying amount may not be recoverable {refer to Note 12). An asset’s carrying amount
is written down immediarely to its recoverable amount if the asset’s cartying amount is greatet than its
estimated recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asser’s
cartying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. Property, plant and equipment that suffered an
impairment is reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

(Gains and losses on disposals of propetty, plant and equipment are determined by compating proceeds
with carrying amount and are recognised in profit or loss. When revalued assets are disposed of, the
amounts included in the revaluaton reserve relating to the assets are transferred to retained earnings.
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Summary of material accounting policies - continued

3.8 Investment property

Property that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that is not
occupied by entities forming part of the Group is classified as investment property. Investrnent
property also includes property that is being constructed or developed for future use as investment
property, when such idendficadon is made. Investment property principally comprises land and

buildings.

Investment property is measured initially ac its historical cost, including related wansaction costs and
borrowing costs. Borrowing costs which are incurred for the purpose of acquiring or constructing a
qualifying investment property are capitalised as parr of its cost. Botrowing costs are capitalised while
acquisition or consttuction is actvely underway. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is ceased once the
asset is substantially complete and is suspended if the development of the asset is suspended. After
inidal recogniton, invesunent property is carried ac fair value, representng open marker value
determined annually.

These fair vahiations are reviewed regularly by a professional valuer. The fair value of investment
property generally reflects, among other things, rental income from current leases and assumptions
about rental income from futuze leases in the light of current market conditons. The fair value also
reflects, on a similar basis, any cash outflows that could be expected in respect of the properrty.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised to the asset’s carrying amount only when it is probable that funure
economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are charged to profit or loss during the
financial period in which they are incucred. When part of an investmnent property is replaced, the catrying
amount of the replaced part 1s derecognised.

Changes in fair values are recognised in profit or loss. Investment properties are derecognised either
when they have been disposed of or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use
and 0o funte economic benefit is expected from its disposal.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment.
Tts fait value at the date of the reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting purposes.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an invesunent property because its use has
changed, any difference resulting between the carrying amount and the fair value of this item ar the date
of wansfer is treated in the same way as a revalvation surplus under TAS 16,

3.9 Intangible assets
(a) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisidon over the fair value of the Group’s share of
the net identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary/associate at the date of acquisiion. Goedwill on
acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in Intangible assets”. Goodwill on acquisitions of associates is
included within the carrying amount of the investuments.

Goodwill is measured as described in Noee 10, Goodwill is not amortised but it is tested for impairment
annually, or mote frequendy if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired,
and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity
include the carrying amount of goedwill relating to the entity sold. Impairment losses on goodwill are
not teversed.

26



CPHCL Company Litnited
Report and Financial Statements 31 December 2023

Summary of material accounting policies - continued
3.9 Inrangible assets - continued
(a) Goodwill - condnued

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing, The allocation is
made to those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected o benefit from
the business combination in which the goodwill arose. The units or groups of units are identified at the
lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes, being the operating
segments,

(b) Other intangible assets

Separately acquired intangible assets, such as purchased compurter software are shown at historical cost.
Customer contracts acquited in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. These intangible assets have a finite useful life and are subsequendy carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses,

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when ir increases the furure economic bepefits embodied in
the specific asset o which it related. All other expendiwre including costs incurred in the ongoing
maintenance of software, is recognised in profit or loss as incutred.

Intangible assets include intangibles with fnite lives, which ate amortdsed, on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives. Estimated useful life is the lower of legal duration and expected useful life.
The estimated usefuld lives are as follows:

Years
Brand design fee and other rights 5-10
Concessions 2-10
Operating contracts 20
Others 3

3.10 Financial instruments

Financial instruments are recognised when the Group has becomne a party to the conuactual provisions
of the instrument. Financial inswuments include invesernents in listed equity securides, derivadve
financial instrurnents, loans receivable, trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, interest-
bearing borrowings, loans payable and trade and other payables.

Financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value including transaction costs, except for those
measured at fair value through profit or loss, for which teansaction costs are recognised in profit or loss
as part of administrative and other expenses.

Trade receivables are initially recognised at the amoune of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they are recognized at fair value.

Derivatives are recognised inidally at fair value at the date the detivative conttact are entered into.
Directly artriburable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial instruments are classified and measured as detailed
Lelow,
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Summary of material accounting policies - continued
3.10 Financial instruments - condnued
3.10.1 Classification of firrancial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

e those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through OCI or through profic or loss),
and

e those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For
investments in equity inscruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the Group
has made an irrevocable election at the time of inidal recognition to account for the equity investment
at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.

3.10.2 Recognition and derecognition of financial assets

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on setdement date, which is the date
on which an asset is delivered to or by the Group. Any change in fair value for the asset to be received,
is recognised between the trade dare and serdement date in respect of assets which are carried ar fair
value in accordance with the measurement rubes applicable to the respective financial assets.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assers have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantally all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

3.10.3 Subsequent measurement of financial assets

Debt instraments

Subsequent measurement of debt instmuments depends on the Group’s business model for managing
the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. The Group’s and the Company’s debt
instruments principally comprise loans and advances o other undertakings and investments in bonds.
The Group also holds investnents in mutual funds; management has assessed that such investments do
not meet the definition of equity in accordance with IAS 32 from the issuer’s perspective since the -
Group can sell its holding back to the fund in return for cash. Accordingly, these invesunents are
considered to be debt instruments from the Group’s perspective.
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Summary of material accounting policies - continued

3.10 Financial instruments - continued

3.10.3 Subsequent measurement of financial assets - continued

Debt instraments - continued

There are two measurement categories intc which the Group classifies its debt instrumnents:

¢ Amortised cost: Finaneial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those
cash flows tepresent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amordsed cost.
Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised direcdy in profit or loss and
presented in other operating expenses together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment
losses are presented under net movements in credic losses on loans receivable in the income
statement.

« FVTPL: Financeal assets that do not meet the criteria for amordsed cost or FVOCI are measured
at FVIPL, A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVIPL is
recognised in profit or loss and presented net within net changes in fair value of financial assets in
the period in which it atises. The Group classified its investments in mutual funds in this category,
on the basis that such investments fail to meet the “solely payments of principal and interest’ test.

Equity tnstraments

The Group subsequently measures all its financial assets in equity investments at fair value, Where the
Group’s management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in OCI,
there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following the
derecognition of the investment, Dividends from such invesunents continue o be recognised in profit
or loss as investment income, when the endty’s right to receive paytments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVTPL are shown separately within net changes in fair
value of financial assets through profit or loss in the income statement.

3.10.4 Trade receivables

Trade and other receivables are subsequently measured at amortsed cost using the effective interest
method, less loss allowance. The Group holds the trade receivables with the objective to collect the
comractual cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the effectve
interest method, Details about the Group’s impairment policies and the calculation of the loss allowance
are provided in Note 37.

3.10.5 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the staternent of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash
on hand, deposits held at call with finandial insttutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with
original magurities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are
shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the statemnent of financial posiden, Cash and cash
equivalents are carried at amortised costs.
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Summeary of matetial accounting policies - continued
3.10 Financial insuruments - continued
3.10.0 Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses the expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised
cost on a forward-looking basis. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recogniton of the receivables, see Note 37.1 for
further details.

3.10.7 Classification, recognition and derecognition of financial liabilides

The Group’s financial liabilities, other than derivative financial instruments, are classified as financial
liabilities which are not at fair value through profit or loss (clagsified as ‘Other liabilities”y under TFRS 9.
Financial liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss are recognised initially at fair value, being the
fair value of consideration received, net of transaction costs that are directly attriburable to the
acquisiion or the issue of the financial liability, Financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or
loss would be initially recognised at fair value through profic or loss with transacton costs expensed in
profit or loss. The Group derecognises a financial liability from its statement of financial position when
the obligation specified in the contract or arrangement is discharged, is cancelled or expires.

3.10.8 Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities

Financial Habilides held at fair value through profit or loss would be subsequently measured at fair value.
Other financial liabilities ate subsequently measured at amortised cost.

3.10.9 Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilitles for goods and services provided to the Group por to the end of the
financial year which are unpaid. Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilites unless
payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting period. They are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

3.10.10 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurted. Bortowings ate
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemprion amount is recognised in profit or loss aver the period of the borrowings using
the effectve interest method, Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down. In this case, the fee is deferred undl the draw down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised a5 a prepayment
for liquidity services and amortsed over the period of the facility to which it r¢lates.

Botrowings are removed from the statement of financial posidon when the obligation specified in the
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amhount of a financial
lizbility that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including
any non-cash asser transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognized in profit or loss as other income or
finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as currenr liabilities unless the Group has an uncondidonal right to defer
setdement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
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Summary of material accounting policies - continued
3.10 Financial instruments - contdrnued
3.10.11 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on & net basis, or realise the asset and sette the liability simultaneously.

3.11 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned to individual items
of inventory on the basis of weighted average costs. The cost of inventories comprises the invoice value
of goods and, in general, includes transport and handling costs. Costs of purchased inventory are
determined after deducting rebates and discounts. Net realisable value is the estmated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs necessaty wo make the sale.

3.12 Income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the cutrent petiod’s taxable income
based on the applicable income tax rare for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets
and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and o unused eax losses.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting pedod in the countries where the Company’s subsidiaries and associates
operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax reguladon is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where approptiate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the conselidated financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill,
Deferred tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at the tme of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substannally enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when
the related deferred tax asset is realised ot the deferred tax liability is settled,

The deferred tax liability in reladon to investment property that is measured at fair value is determined
asswming the property will be recovered entirely through sale.

Defesred tax liabilides and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying
amount and tax bases of investments in foreign operations where the Company is able to contrel the
uming of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future,

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxadon authority, Current
tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offser and intends
either 1o settle on a net basis, ot to realise the asset and sewde the liability simultaneously,

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directy in equity. In dhis case, the tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly 1n equity, respectively.
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Summary of material aceounting policies - continued
3.12 Income tax - continued

Deferted tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to
utilise those wemporary differences and losses.

3.13 I*rovisions

Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and make good obligations are recognised when the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligatdon and the amount can be reliably estimared. Provisions
atre not recognised for future operating losses.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used to determine
the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects corrent market assessments of the dme value of money
and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised
as interest expense.

3.14 Contingent liabilities

Conringent liabilities are possible obligations that arise from past events whose existence will be
confirmed only by occurrence, or non-occurrence, of one or more uncertain future event not wholly
within the control of the Group; or are present obligations that have arisen from past events but ate not
recognised because it is not probable that settlement will require the outflow of economic benefits, or
because the amount of the ebligations cannot be reliably measured. Contingent liabilides are not
recognised in the financial statements but are disclosed unless the probability of settlemenr is remorte.

3.15 Revenue recognition
() Revenue from hotel operations

Revenue from hotel operadons includes revenue from accomenodatdon, food and beverage services, and
other ancillary services. The substantial majority of services are provided to customers during their stays
in one of the Group’s hotels, and, depending on the type of booking, some services would generally be
amalgamated into one ‘contract’ (for example, bed and breakfast).

Each of the services rendered is assessed to be a distinct performance obligation, and if applicable, the
Group allocates the transaction price to each of the services rendered to the customer on a relative basis,
based on their stand-alone selling price. Revenue from such operations is recognised over time since
the customer benefits as the Group is performing; the majority of revenue relates to accommodation
{i.e. the amount allocated to such performance obligaton is recognised over the customer’s stay at the
respective hotel),

by  Catering services
The Group provides services in the catering industry. The transaction price comprises a fixed amount

agreed with the respectve customer. Any upfront payments are deferred as contrace liabilities, and
revenue is recognised in the period that the services are provided to the customer.
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Summary of material accounting policies - continued
3.15 Revenue recognition - continued
()  Project management services

The Group provides a wide range of project management services, some of which may span over
multiple accounting periods. Some contracts require the provision of multiple secvices, and the Group
assesses whether these consdtute distinet performance obligations in the conrext of the atrangement.
In any case, revenue from such performance obligations is recognised over time, using an input method
of progress to calculate the stage of completion.

The consideration for project management services is based on the expected number of hours that the
Group expeers to be required for the project to be completed. Revenue and contract costs are
recognised over the period of the contract, respectively, as revenue and expenses. When it is probable
that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

The stage of completion is measuzed by reference to the proportion of coniract costs incurred for work
performed up to the end of the repotting period in refation to the estimated total costs for the contract.
Costs incurred during the year that relate to future activity on a contract are excluded from contract
costs in detenining the stage of completicn and are shown as conrract assers.

The aggregate of the costs incurred and the profit ot loss recognised on each contract is compared
against the progtess billings up to the end of the reportng period. The Group presents as a contract
asset the gross amount due from customers for coneract work for all contracts in progress for which
costs incurred plus recognised profits (less recognised losses) exceed progress billings, within wade and
other receivables. The Group presents as a contract liability the gross amount due to customers for
contract work for all contracts in progress for which progress billings exceed costs incurred plus
recognised profits {less recognised losses), within trade and other payables,

{d) Hotel management agreements

The Group enters inte hotel management agreements with hotel property owners and under these
agreements, the Group’s performance obligaton is to provide hotel management services and 2 license
to use Corinthia’s brand. Base and incentive tnanagement fees are typically charged. Base management
fees are typically a percentage of total hotel operating revenues and incentive fees are generally based on
the hotel’s operating profits. Doth are treated as varigble consideration. Base management fees are
recognised as the underlying hotel revenues occut. Incentive management fees are recognised over time
when ir is highly probable that the related performance eriteria for each annual period will be met,
provided there is no expectation of a subsequent reversal of the revenue. Costs incurred to enter into a
contract are expensed as incurred unless they are incremental in obtaining the coatract

Contract assers

Amounts paid to hotel ownets to secure hotel management agteements (key money’) ate treated as
consideration payable to a customer. A contract asset is recorded and eventmlly recognised as a
deduction o revenue over the term of the conract. Contract assets are not financial assets as they
represent amounts paid by the Group at the beginning of a contract and accordingly, are tested for
impairment based on value in use. Contract assets are reviewed for impairment when events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable,
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Summary of material accounting policies - continued
3,16 Leases
3.,16.1 Accounting policy where the Group is the lessor

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor is recognised in income on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. Inidal direct costs incutred in obraining an cperating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the underlying asset and recognised as expense over the lease term on the same
basis as lease income. The respective leased assets are included in the statement of financial positon
based on their nature.

3.16.2 Accounting policy where the Group is the lessee
The Group’s leasing policy is described in Note 13.

3.17 Employee benefits

(a) Short-term obligations

Liabilides for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and accumulating leave that are
expected to be setted wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees
render the related service are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting
period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the habilities are settled. The liabiliues
are presented under trade and other payables in the statement of financial positon,

(b) Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses based on a formula that takes into
consideration the profit atribueable to the Company’s shareholders after certain adjustments. The
Group tecognises 4 provision where conwactually obliged or where there is a past practice that has
created a constructive obligation.

{(¢) Contributions to defined contribution pension plans

The Group conttibutes towards the Srate defined contribution pension plan in accordance with local
legislation in exchange for services rendered by employees and to which it has no commitment beyond
the payment of fixed contributions. Obligations for contributions are recognised as an employee benefit
in profic or loss in the periods during which services are rendered by employees.

3.18 Government grants

Grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that all the condidons attached to them are
complied with and the grants will be received. Grants related to income are recognised in the profit or
loss over the periods necessary to match them with the related costs which they are intended to
compensate. Such grants are presented as part of profit or loss, by deducting them from the related
expense. Grants related to assets are presented in the statement of financial position as deferred income,
which is recognised as income cver the useful life of the asset.

3.19 Assets held for sale

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be
recovered principally through a sale wransaction rather than through continuing use and a sale is
considered highly probable. They are measured at the lower of theit carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell, except for assets such as deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee benefirs, financial
assets and investment property that are catried at fair value.
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Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Management makes estimates, assumptions and judgements that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilides within the next financial year. The
resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal actual results.

The fair value of property, plant and equipment and investment properties is determined by using
valuation technigues. Further details of the judgements and assumptions made are disclosed in Note 12
to these financial statements which highlights information about dhe fair value estimadon of land and
buildings and investment property, together with a sensitivity analysis of the effect of shifts in
unobservable inputs used in determining these fair vakues.

Additionally, the significant estimates and uncerwinties arising from the Group’s operadons in Libya
and Russia are disclosed in Note 5.

Other areas where management judgments are required include determining the lease term in relation to
lease accounting are disclosed in Note 13,

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be udlised. Significant management judgement is
required to determine the amount of deferred tax assers thae can be recognised, based upon the likely
gdming and the level of taxable profits, together with future tax planning strategies. Additonal
informatdon on the unrecognised deferred tax assets are included in Note 29.

In the opinion of the directors, with exceptions 1o those listed above, the accounting estimates and
judgements made in the course of preparing these financial statements are not difficult, subjective or
complex to a degree which would warrant their description as critcal in terms of the requirements of
IAS1

The Group’s operations in Libya and Russia
5.1 The Group’s operations in Libya
The Group’s investments in Libya pdncipally comprise:

¢ The Corinthia Hotel Tripoli, a fully owned five-star hotel in Tripoli with a carrying amount of
€65.40 million (2022: €67.13 mullion) managed through Corinthia Towers Tripoli Limired
(CTTL), a company registered in Malta with a branch in Libya, owned by IHI p.l.c., a subsidiary
of CPHCL,,

*  An adjoining Commercial Centre to the above-mendoned hotel, with a carrying amount of
€83.26 million (2022: €75.34 million) also opetated by CTTE;

* A site surrounding the Hotel, with a carrying amount of €29.50 million (2022: €29.50 million)
also operated by CT'TL;

¢ The Palm City Residences, a large-scale complex in Janzour, Libya, owned by an associate
company, Mediterranean Investments Holding p.l.c. (MIH p.l.c.}, in which the CPHCL Group
holds a 50% share. The book value of this property is €272.57 million (2022: €272.57 million)
and the Group’s share of this asset and of another site owned by MIH p.lc. in Libya is €139.30
million (2022: €139.38 million); and

¢ The development of the Medina Tower Project through IHI ple. and MIH p.le., with the
group holding directly and indirectly a 37.5% share amounting 1o €8.96 million (2022: €5.24
million).
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The Group’s operations in Libya and Russia - continued
5.1 The Group’s operations in Libya - condnued

Since 2014, Libya experienced severe political instability due to the collapse of the central government
during the same year and the country has been poing through difficult dmes ever since. A United
Naztions-brokered ceasefire deal was reached in December 2015 and the Libyan Political Agreement to
form a Government of National Accord was signed. On 31 March 2016, the leaders of the new UN-
supported unity government atrived in Tripoli. In May 2018 Libya's rival leaders agreed 1o hold
parliamentary and presidential elections following a meeting in Paris. No election has been held as rival
leaders were jostling for territory. In March 2021 however, Libya’s parliament endorsed a new, unified
government, and the two previous rival governments agreed to dissolve. This transiticnal government
was due to stay in power until the end of 2021, when national presidental and legislative elections were
due to take place. The elections were however postponed again after the head of High National Election
Comrmission ordered the dissolution of the electoral committees natonwide. The elecdons which were
initially scheduled for June 2022, were pushed back to the end of 2022 and later pushed back again. The
delay of national elections together with the confirmation of a new government cabinet by the eastem-
based House of Representadves in February 2022, had returned Libya to a state of institutonal division
with two paralle] government administradons in the East and West.

Encouragingly, in March 2024, the speaket of the eastern based House of Representatives and the head
of the western based High Council of State met in Egypt and agreed to unify sovereign posidons
stressing Libya’s sovereignty, independence and territorial integriry rejecting any foreign intervention
that affects the Libyan political process negatively. Following this agreement a technical commirtee will
be formed within a given timeframe to resolve unsetded matters.

The state of economic uncertainty that continued to prevail during the financial year ended 31 December
2023 continuves to impact negatively the Libyan hospitality and real estate sectors which in turn impacrts
the Group’s financial results in Libya. Having stated the above, and notwithstanding the negative impact
of the COVID-19 pandemic and Libyan Dinar devaluation in 2021 which saw the Group’s revenue and
profimbility reduce significantly, it should be noted that the turnover registered during 2023 by Corinthia
Towers Tripoli Limited amounts to €11.86 million (2022: €12.19 million) represendng 3.63% (2022:
4.51%) of the Group’s Revenue, with a profit before tax of €10.90 million {2022: profit before tax of
€4.33 million). In 2023 a fait value gain on the invesunent property of €7.92 million was recognised
(2022: nil) in view of the consistent cashflows based on long-term agreements. Current year’s revenue
includes €7.45 million (2022: €790 million) generated from rental contracts attributable to the
Commetcial Centre that remained in full operation throughout since its opening, generating a sicady
income from the lease of commercial offices within the Centre to international blue-chip companies.
The existence of long-term leases has mitdgated the impact of the continued polidcal instability and state
of uncertainty on the Commercial Centre. The Commercial Centre remained fully leased out 1n 2023.

Whilst the Commercial Centre continued to generate posidve net contributions as in previous years, the
year ended 2023 saw the hotel closing with a negative net financial result of €0.50 million mainly due o
loss of occupancy, versus the positive net operational financial resulr achieved in 2022. Management’s
objective for the hotel is to continue to build on the current operational base and to ensure that payroll
and other operating costs are managed in the context of reduced operating income levels. At the same
time, however, the company continues to invest in maintenance and security costs to ensure that the
hotel is kept in a pristine condidon to allow it to benefit from increased revenues once the situation
improves.

There were no major changes during the last year when it comes to the significant economic and political
uncertainty prevailing in Libya. This renders fair valuation of property assets situated in Libya, by
reference to projected cash flows from operating the asset or to market sales prices, extremely difficult
and judgmental. The operating performance of the assets in Libya has remained relatvely stable when
compared to last year.
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The Group’s operations in Libya and Russia - continued
5.1 The Group’s operations in Libya - continued

The Palm City Residences, operated through an associate company in which the Group owns a 50%
share, continued to perform resolutely during the year under review, despite the unsmble politeal
situation. The closing occupancy in December 2023 was 57,96%, its highest occupancy since May 2019,
Palm City Residences enjoyed 9.8% higher revenues compared to 2022 through both higher average
rates and higher occupancy levels. Operating costs and other expenses were retained at relatively low
levels, Operatng profic amounted to €19.41 million (2022: operating profit of €17.50 million). The
operation registered a profit after tax of €12.57 million compared to €10.75 million in 2022.

The exposures emanating from the Group’s activites in Libya are summarised in the table belows

Carrying amount Carrying amount
31 December 2023 31 December 2022
€000 €000
Corinthia Towers Tripoli Limited
Property, plant and equipment 65.4 67.1
Investment property 112.8 104.8
Inventoties 1.9 1.8
Trade receivables, net of provisions 0.5 03
Mediterranean Investmenss Holding p.l.c.
Shate of net asscts 99.0 95.7
Medina Tower [.5.C.
Investment in associate accounted for
using the equity method of accounting 940 0.2

The futute performance of the Hotel, the Commercial Centre and other operations referred 1o above,
together with the fair value of the related and other property assets situated in Libya are largely
dependent on how soon the political situation in Libya will return to normality and on how quickly the
international oil and gas industry recovers once political risks subside.

In assessing the value of the Hortel, the Directors also believe that the outlook has not changed
significantly over the past twelve months and therefore they have retained the expectations of a gradual
recovery for the Hotel, However, the Directors also recognise that there is interest from a number of
sources for short and long-term accommadation. Hotel occupancy rates in the initdal months of 2024
have shown signs of improvement and the outlook is encouraging. As a result, the results of the valuaton
assessment supporting the carrying amount of the Hotel in Libya are substantially in line with the
assessments macde last year, save for a reduction in the carrying value of €1.84 million representing the
depreciation charge for the year under review. In accordance with this assessment, no further
impairment charges were deemed necessary in these financial statements after taking into account the
impairment charges of €40.50 million recognised in 2014 and further depreciadon charges amounting
o €23.96 million accounted for between 2016 and 2023.

In the case of the Commercial Centre, on account of consistent cashflows based on long-texm
agreements an uplift in the carrying amount of €7.92 million was recognised during the current year.

The Group’s investment property also includes a site surrounding the Hotel, with no determined
commercial use, having a cartying amount of €29.50 million as at 31 December 2023, which is unchanged
from the carrying amount as at 31 December 2022, This fair valuanion is based on an independent real
estate value of the site taking into account limited available market information.
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The Group's operations in Libya and Russia - continued
5.1 The Group’s operations in Libya - continued

The fair value of Palm City Residences as at 31 December 2023, cartied out by the Directors of Palm
City Limited, was determined by discounting the forecast future cash flows generated for the remaining
petiod of 49 years of the Build-Operate-Transfer agreement signed between CPHCL Company Limited
and Palm City Limited. In the previous reporting period, a valuation exercise was catried out by the
directors to detetmine the fair value of the investment property, and a composite pre-tax discount rate
of 13.14% in real terms was applied 1o the projected cash flows. The resultant valuation in 2022 reflected
an increase in the carrying value of €1.80 million, which the directors, acting prudendy, opted not to
recognise in the reporting period. During the current reporting period, another exercise was carried out
by the Dixectors to determine the fair value of the investment property. The valuaden artived ac was a
tesult of specific premivms being applied including country risk, propetty risk and projection risk
premium. The composite pre-tax discount rate utilised for the year under review is 9.6% in real terms.
The resultant valuation in 2023 reflected an increase in the carrying value of €6.02 million which the
directors opted not to recognise in this reporting period. This, notwithstanding the stable and resolute
petformance of the operation, and in consideradon of the various scenarios possible in the corrent
polidcal climare.

In view of the prevailing circumstances in Libya, The Medina Tower Project owned by an associate of
the Group has slowed down considerably. The key assets within this company as at 31 December 2023
held in Libyan Dinar comprise the project site carried at LYD 127.00 million equivalent to €24.12 million
(2022: LYD 126.98 million equivalent 1o €24.64 millien), and Fure denominated cash balances
amounting to €7.35 million (2022: €7.90 million). The cartying amount of investment held by the Gtoup
in this project amounts to €8.96 million (2022: €9.24 million).

At this point in time, different scenarios in terms of the furure political landscape in Libya are plausible,
which scenarios, negative and positve, could significantly influence the timing and amount of projected
cash flows and the availability of property market sales price informadon. The impact of these different
plausible scenarios on the operating and financial performance of the Hotel, Commercial Centre and
Palm City Residences, and on the fair valuaticn of the related property assets would accordingly vary in
a significant manner.

It is somewhat difficult to predict when the political sitvadon in the counery will start stabilising and
forecasting the timing of any economic recovery in Libya is judgemental, Past expedence has shown
that, because of the keen interest by the international oil and gas industty to return to Libya, the Group's
performance in respect of its operations in Libya is likely to recover quickly once the situation in the
country improves in a meaningful mannet.

5.2 The Group’s operations in Russia

The Group’s investments in Russia principally comptise:

¢ The Corinthia Hotel St Petersburg, a fully owned five-star hotel in St. Petetsburg with a catsying
amount of €53.46 million (20622: €71.83 million) managed through Corinthia Hotels Limited, 2
subsidiary of IHT p.l.c;

¢ An adjoining Commercial Centre to the above-mentioned hotel, with a carrying amount of
€38.32 million (2022: €52.48 million) operated by IHI Benelux B.V., a subsidiary of IHI p.l.c.;
and

* A 10% equity investment in Lizar Holdings Limired, a hotel and residential development in
Mosceow, having a carrying amount of €0.03 million (2022: €0.03 million),
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The Group’s operations in Libya and Russia - continued
5.2 The Group’s operations in Russia - continued

In February 2022, a milicary conflict erupted berween Russia and Ukraine with consequential
international sanctions being imposed on Russia. The situation regarding these sanctons and counter-
sanctions imposed by Russia itself continues to evolve. The consequences of these sanctons on the
group and future effects on operational incomes are difficult to determine and depend on the duration
of this conflict. The Group has engaged international legal advisers to assist in managing the siruation
that the sanctons have broughe about.

The geopolitcal situadon between Russia and the west resulted in a drop in international business.
Nevertheless, the hotel sdll increased occupancy levels over 2022 in view of the local trade that the hotel
always enjoyed.

In 2022, due to the evolving sitvaton in and around the Russian market and in view of the escalating
sanctions that were being imposed on Russia, the Group settled the bank loan on its property in St.
Petershurg, Whilst natrally impacdng en the Group’s cashilows, the transaction has also had the
beneficial effect of removing exchange rate volatility which the Group had experienced during past years
due to this Facility.

Both the hotel and the Commercial Centre have remained operational since the eruption of the conflict.
The turnover registered during 2023 by IHI Benelux BV and Cerinthia St. Petersburg LL.C amounts to
€15.89 million (2022: €13.26 million}), representing 4.35% (2022: 4.90%) of the Group’s Revenue, with
a profit before tax of €1.67 million after deducting a fair value movement of €1.72 on the investment
property (2022: profit before tax of €4.86 million). Current year’s revenue includes €2.26 million (2022:
€3.20 million) generated from rental contraces atrriburable to the Commercial Centre.

The settlement of the bank loan in 2022 resulted in a gain on exchange of €12.09 million reported in the
cotnparative income statement with nec exchange differences on borrowings.

Management’s objective for the hotel and the Commercial Centre is to continue 10 build on the local
trade and to ensure that payroll and other operating costs are managed in the context of the reduced
opetating income levels. At the same time, the company continues to invest in maintenance to ensure
that the hotel is kept in a pristine condidon to allow it to benefit from increased revenues once the
situaton improves and internatdonal teavellers return.

The exposures emanating from the Group’s activities int Russia are summarised in the table below:

Carrying amount Carrying amount
31 December 2023 31 December 2022
€'m €m
THI Benelux BV
Propetty, plant and equipment 53.5 71.8
Invesunent property 38.3 525
Inventories 0.6 0.7
Trade receivables, net of provisions 0.3 0.1
Moscow project
Investment and loans 6.1 6.5

The future performance of the Hotel, the Commercial Centre and other operations referred to above,
together with the fair value of the related and other property assers situated in Russia are largely
dependent on how soon the economic and political situation in and around Russia will return to
normality and on how quickly international sanctions are lfted.
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The Group’s operations in Libya and Russia - continued
5.2 The Group’s operations in Russia - continued

In assessing the value of the Hotel, the Directots recognised that the recent developments resulted in a
drastic drop in international trade and consequentially a delay in the recovery from COVID-19. The
valuaton assessment carried out by professional valuers includes a higher element of uncertainty.
Nevertheless, the carrying amount of the hotel remained unchanged in 2023 (2022: fair value loss of
€9.74 million) whilst a negative fair valhte movement of €1.71 million on the Commercial Centre was
reporeed in the income statement (2022: €5.90 million}.

In view of the prevailing citcumstances in Russia, the Moscow hotel project owned by an associate of
the Group was suspended.

It is somewhar difficult to predict when the political sitvation in the country will start stabilising and
forecasting the dming of any economic recovery for the Group's operations in Russia is judgmental.
Considering the central and strategic locadon of the hotel and Commercial Centre, the Group's
performance in respect of its operations in Russia is likely to recover quickly once the sitvation in the
couniry improves in a2 meaningful manner.

The above assets wralling €927 million are based on an exchange rate of 99,1919, Should this vary by
5%, the impact on the Group’s assets would increase or reduce by €4.41 million.
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Revenue and expenses
6.1 Revenue

The Group's revenues split by category, are disclosed below:

The Group

2023 2022

€000 €000

Hotel operations 276,706 221,276
Rental income 28,129 28216
Catering 26,602 24,508
Project management 8,647 7,532
Laundsy and dry cleaning 4,392 3,371
Event organisation 3,280 3,282
Others 1,289 2n
Management company revenue 28,775 21,882
Elimination of intta group revenues {50,927) (39,933

326,893 270,345

The Company’s revenue is mainly derived from dividend income and an elernent of managerment fees.

Contract assets and contract liabilities with respect to the Group’s revenue from contracts are disclosed
in Notes 18 and 30 respectively.

6.2 Expenses by nature

The Group The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
€000 €000 €000 €000
Ditecrors’ fees 170 170 - -
Management fees - - 550 550
Food, beverage and other direct costs 31,161 26,517 - -
Professional fees (excluding audit fees) 6,187 4,538 189 171
Energy costs 15,407 16,044 4 4
Diepreciation of property, plant and
equipment (Note 12) 26,806 28,058 8 6
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 13) 2,673 2,943 17 3
Amortsaton of intangible assets (Note 10) 613 633 - -
Personnel expenses (Note 7) 103,185 81,045 2,335 2,521
Property taxes 4,620 5035 - -
Repairs and maintenance %,369 7,974 - -
Movement in impairment losses 611 40 275 299

The Group's Directors’ remuneration charged in profit or loss in 2023 amounted to €2.19 million (2022:
€2.29 million). Directors' remuneration for the Company charged in profit or loss in 2023 amounted to
€0.77 million (2022: €1.01 million).
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Revenue and expenses - continued
6.3 Auditor’s fees

Fees charged by the anditor for services rendered during the financial years ended 31 December 2023
and 31 December 2022 including fees charged by other netwotk firms ate shown in the table below.

The Group The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
€000 €000 €000 €000
Annual statutory audit 998 957 117 107
Tax compliance and advisory services 45 50 - -
Other non-audit services 115 4 26 -
1,158 991 143 107

Fees charged by the parent company auditor for services rendered duting the financial years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022 to the Group relating to annual statutory audit amounted to €0.54 million
(2022: €0.51 million). Fees charged by connected undertakings of the company’s parent auditor w the
Group relating to tax compliance and advisory fees amounted to €0.16 million (2022: €0.05 million).

Personnel expenses

The Group The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
€000 €000 €000 £000
Wages and salaries 89,818 67,491 2,200 2,393
Social secutity contributions 8,463 6,959 45 32
Other staff costs 4,904 6,595 2% 26
103,185 81,045 2,335 2,521

In addition to the amounts shown in the above able, the Group also incutred cutsourced labour costs
amounting to €16.72 million (2022: €17.47 million).

Government grants in relation to personnel expenses

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has benefitted from varying schemes adopted by the
respective Governments in varicus countries in which the Group operates. During 2022, the Group and
Company received grants amouating to €3.51 million and €0.10 million respectively under the varying
schemes adopted by the respective Governments, These grants were netted off against the wages and
salaries amount disclosed above. No grants were received during 2023,

The average number of employees is as follows:

The Group The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
No, No. No. No.
Management and administrative 326 690 28 31
Operating 2,444 2,075 14 11
3270 2,774 42 42
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Finance income and finance costs

Finance income:

Interest income on loans to subsidiaries
Interest income on loans to associates
Interest income on bank balances

Intercst income on loans to investee
Others

‘Total finance income

Finance costs:

Inrerest expense on bank botrowings
Intetest expense on bonds in issue
Interest expense on shareholders” loans
Interest expense on subsidiaries’ loans
Interest expense on lease liabilities
Bond issue and other financing costs
Net exchange differences

Others

Total finance costs

Tax expense

The Group The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
€000 €000 €000 €000
- - 919 600
77 i43 77 135
269 55 5 -
242 248 - -
663 117 920 95
1,251 563 1,09 830
23,17¢ 13,641 36 103
14,696 14,488 - -
1,336 1,297 1,336 1,297
- - 3,688 2,586
1,076 925 5 1
1,026 842 - -
2,037 (15,582) - -
1,198 692 127 187
44,548 16,303 5,192 4,174

The (charges)/credits for income tax on {losses)/ profits detived from local and foreign operations have

been calculated at the applicable tax rates.

Current taxation:
- Current year tax

- Adjustment recognised in financial

period for current tax of prior petiod

Defetred raxation:
- Deferred tax expense
- Adjustment recognised in financial

period for deferred tax of prior period

The Group The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
€000 €000 €000 €000
(513) (2,189 ¢} (101)
- (31) - -
{5,310) 277 - -
6 (108) - -
{5,817) (2,051) @ (101}

Refer to Nere 29 for informaron on the deferred tax assers and liabilities.
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Tax expense - continued

9.1 Tax expense reconciliation

The Group The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
€000 €000 €000 €000
(Loss)/profit before incotne tax expense (5,254) (1,382) (6,473) {3,515)
(5,254) (1,382) (6,473) {3,515)
Income tax using the Company’s domestic
tax rate at 35% 1,839 484 2,265 1,230
Effect of income/ (losses) subject to
foreign/different tax rates (1,641) 474 (417) 1,273
Effect of reduction in tax rate on opening
deferred tax assets 93 - - -
Neon-taxable income 327 - 61 (179
Non-tax deductible expenses (2,014) (4,405} (2,481) (1,497)
Movement in unrecognised deferred 1ax {5,357) (218) 57 (828)
Adjustments in respect of previous years
taxes 76 (139} - (100
Effect of Group’s share of profit and loss
attributable to investments accounted for
using the equity method 2,226 1,861 - -
Other (1,366) {108) - -
Tax expense (5,817) {2,051} (§4) (101)

The tax impacts which are entirely attributable to deferred taxaton, relating to components of othet
comprehensive income, are as follows:

2023 2022
Tax
Before {charge)/ Netof Before Tax Net of
tax credit tax tax  charge tax

€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000
Group
Net surplus atising on
revaluation of hotel properties 58,999  (15,283) 43,716 2,959 1,758 4,717
Curzency translation differences (19,687) 3,701 (15,986) (25377) (671)  {26,048)

39,312 (11,582) 27,730 (22418) 1,087  (21,331)
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10. Intangible assets

The Group
Brand
design
fee and
other Con- Operadng
Geodwill rights cessions  contracts Others Total
€000 €000 €000 £400 €000 €000
Cost
At1 Jaouary 2022 8,316 9,160 466 7,000 3,949 28,191
Additions - 12 - - 8 20
Exchange differences - 6}, 4 - (0 -
At 31 Decemnber 2022 8,316 9,169 470 7,000 3,256 28 211
At 1 Jaouary 2023 8316 9,169 470 7,000 3,256 28211
Additons - 35 - - 1,008 1,043
Disposals - (1) - - - 1
Exchange differences - 1 5 - - 6
At 31 December 2023 8,315 9,204 478 7,000 4,264 29,259
Amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2022 766 8,915 453 5,308 3,102 18,544
Amortisation charge for year - 47 13 500 73 633
Exchange differences - {2 4 - (1 1
At 31 December 2022 T66 8,960 470 5,808 3,174 19,178
At 1 Janvary 2023 TG0 8,960 470 5,808 3,174 19,178
Amortisation charge for year - 25 - 350 238 G613
Disposals - 0 - - - (N
Exchange differences - 1 5 - - 6
At 31 December 2023 766 8,985 475 6,158 3,412 19,796
Carrying amount
At 1 January 2022 7,550 245 13 1,692 147 9,047
At 31 December 2022 7,550 209 - 1,192 82 9,033
At 31 December 2023 7,550 219 - 842 852 9,463
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Intangible assets - continued

Gaodwill

The acquisition of CaterMax Limited and Malta Fairs and Conventions Centre Limited in 2016 gave rise
to goodwill amounting to €0.78 million, atuributable to synergies expected between the acquired business
and the Group’s previously owned business line operating within CaterMax’s sector.

In 2015, IHI p.le. had acquired the THGH Group. The goodwill arising on this major acquisidon was
of €1.40 million. The goodwill is artibutable to cost synergies.

During the year 2021, the Group acquired the tremaining 50% holding in Golden Sands Resort Limited.
This gave rise to a goodwill of €5.41 million.

Relative to the Group’s total asset base, the poodwill arising on these acquisitions are not material to
wattant the disclosures that would have otherwise been required by IAS 36.

Brand design fees and other rights

The Group has franchise agreements with Costa International Limited to develop and operate the Costa
Coffee brand in the Maltese Islands. This intangible arises from the acquisition of the IHGH Group in
2015. The total amounz of brand design fees and other rights recognised on acquisidon amounted to

€2.6 million.
Costa Coffee Malta

This cash-generating unit includes the operation of the Costa Coffee retail brand in Malra. As at 31
December 2023 the Group operated thirteen outlets (2022: fifteen) each enjoying a strategic location in
areas popular for rewail operations. The carrying amount of the Brand design fees and other rights for
Costa Coffee Malta amounted to €0.05 million (2022: €0.05 million}).

Operating contracts

These contracts represent the assumed valve attributable to the operation of hotel properties which
arose on the re-acquisition of 30% shareholding of Corinthia Hotels Limited {‘CHL).

This intangible asset was subject to an integnal impairment assessment. The indicative valuaton is based
on the discounted cash flows derived from hotel operating projections as prepared by specialists in hotel
consulting, and such projecdons confirm that no impairment charge was required as at 31 December
2023 and 2022.

The discounted cash flow (value-in-use) calculation was determined by discounting the forecast future
cash flows generated by CHL for a ten-year explicit period 2024 - 2033. The following are the key
assumptions underlying the projections:

s tevenue derived from 1HI p.l.c. propetties is based on operational projections. This accounts
for 56.70% of the total revenue in the explicit period (2022: 68.00%);

» revenue from other properties is assumed to increase by 2.00% per annum on 2023 budget
(2022: 2.00% on 2022 budget) (in-perpetuity growth rate of 2.00% per annum applied
subsequently to the ten-year period covered by the explicit projections);

® a pre-tax discount rate of 12.28% was applied to the operatng projections of CHL (2022:
12.28%).
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Intangible assets - continued
Others
Other intangible assets represent website development costs and licenses,

Investment property

The Group The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
€000 €000 €000 €000

At 1 January 185,624 178,840 820 820
Transfer (to)/from property, plant and
equipment (Note 12) (2,340) 1,200 - -
Addirions 2,235 6,602 - -
Net gain/(loss) from fair value
adjustment 6,423 {6,6200 - -
Exchange differences {12,565) 5,602 - -
At 31 December 179,377 185,624 820 820

The ransfer to property, plant and equipment in 2023, relates to Craven House as additional parts of this
office block are being used by the Group. The tzansfer from property, plant and equipment in 2022 related
to one of the buildings in St. Petersburg, Russia, This building will in the future be used for leasing
purposes and consequenily its original cost and improvements made are being transferred from property,
plant and equipment to investment property.

) The Group’s investment properties are valued annually on 31 December at fair value by
independent professionally qualified wvaluers having appropriate recognised professional
qualifications and experience in the location and category of the property being valued.

The carrying amount of the investment properties is analysed as follows:

The Group

2023 2022
€000 £000

Investment property
Commercial Centre in St Petersburg - Russia 38,316 52,483
Commercial Centre in Tripoli - Libya 83,260 75,344
Apariment block in Lisbon 6,386 5,908
Site in Tripoli - Libya 29,500 29,500
Site in Marsa - Malta 9,636 9,636
Site in Konopiste - Czech Republic 7,673 7,866
Site in Misurata - Libya 87 87
Amber Hotels - Czech Republic 345 354
Office block - London 4,174 4,446
179,377 185,624
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1L

Investment property - continued

Disclosures required in terms of IFRS 13 in relation to fair value measurements attributable o
investment property are presented in Note 12,1,

b)  Invesoment properties with a carrying amount of €126.57 million (2022: €118.93 million) are
hypothecated in favour of bankers as collateral for general banking facilities and loans granted to
the Group.

) Rental income earned by the Group from investment property amounted o €10.13 million (2022:
€11.53 million) while direct expenses amounted to €2.27 million (2022: €2.55 million}.

d)  Direct operating expenses in relation to investment propertes that did not generate rental income
amounted to €0,10 million (2022: €0.05 million).

e)  Allinvesument property is leased out under operating leases with reatals payable monthly, Lease
payments for some coneracts include Consumer Price Index (CPI) increases. Where considered
necessaty to reduce credit tisk, the Group may obtain bank guarantees for the term of the lease.

‘The minimum lease payments receivable in accordance with IFRS 16 are as follows:

The Gronp

2023 2022

€000 €000

Within 1 year 7,556 7,008
Between 1 and 2 years 6,359 3,038
Between 2 and 3 vears 5,821 2,329
Between 3 and 4 years 4,69 1,620
Between 4 and 5 years 3,224 1,588
Later than 5 years 702 34
28,353 15,707

Although the Group is exposed to changes in the residual value at the end of the current leases, the
Group typically enters into new operating leases and therefore will not immediately realise any reductdon
in residual value a1 the end of these leases, Expecuations about the future residual values are teflected in
the fair value of the propertes.
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12,  Property, plant and equipment

The Group
Assets in the
Land and Plant and Motor course of
buildings  equipmens vehicles construction Toral
€300 €000 €000 €000 €000

Cost/valuation
Balance at 1 January 2022 1,494,554 310,979 2,639 62,532 1,870,704
Revaluation surplus 2,959 - - - 2,059
Revaluation adjustment* (4,634 - - - (4,634)
Additions 11,015 6,457 o0 23,825 41,357
Reallocadons 660 798 - (1,458} -
Disposals (1 (850) (432} (76} (1,359
Other write-offs - - - {100 (1003
Transfer to investment property (Note 11) {263) - - (937) (1,200)
Exchange differences (23,323) (4,858) ] 159 (28,016
Balance at 31 December 2022 1,480,967 312,526 2,273 83,945 1,879,711
Balance at 1 Janwary 2023 1,480,967 312,526 2273 83,045 1,879,711
Revaluarion surplus 66,999 - - - 66,999
Revaluation adjustment* (44,918) - - - {44,916)
Addidens 4,013 8,275 33 45,996 58,317
Reallocadons 453 1,230 - (1,683 -
Disposals {48) (2,088) {27) {1,720 {3,892)
Transfer from investment property (Note 11) 2,340 - - - 2,340
QOrcher movements - - - (1,405) {1,405}
Impairments - 222 - - 202
Exchange differences {5,320) {1,385) {17) (37) 6,759
Balance at 31 December 2023 1,504,488 318,780 2,262 125,087 1,950,617
Depreciation and impairment charges
Balance at 1 January 2022 292,295 268,957 2,492 - 563,744
Depreciadon for the year 18,502 9442 114 - 28,058
Net impaitment Losses 1,207 - - - 1,207
Revaluation adjustment* (4,634) - - - {4,634
Disposal adjustments - B4 (432) - (1,246}
Exchange differences (1,967 {4,557) 5 - (6,510
Balance at¢ 31 December 2022 305,403 273,028 2,179 - 580,610
Balance ar 1 Jamuary 2023 305,403 273,028 2,179 - 580,610
Depreciation for the year 17,693 9,046 o7 - 26,806
Nert impairment losses 7.725 - - - 7.725
Revaluation adjustment* (44.916) - - - (44,916)
Disposat adjustments (20 {1,901} (22) - (2,003
Exchange differences 121 {1,277 (16} - (172
Balance at 31 December 2023 286,006 278,836 2,208 - 367,050
Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2022 1,202,259 42,022 147 62,532 1,306,960
At 31 December 2022 1,175,504 39,498 04 83,945 1,299,101
At 31 December 2023 1,218,482 39,944 54 125,087 1,383,567

* Revaluadon adjustments relate to the cumulative depreciation eliminated against the cost upon revaluation
of the property during the current year.
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Property, plant and equipment - continued

Changes in fair value duting 2023 in respect of the Group’s properties, amounting to €59 million have
been recognised within other comprehensive income. These fair value movements relate to an uplift on
the Cotinthia Hotel London, Corinthia Hotel St. Georges, Radisson Blu Resort Hotel, Marina Hotel,
Golden Sands Resort Hotel and Corinthia Hotel Lisbon and a fair value loss on the Corinthia Hotel
Budapest and Thermal Hotel Aquincum, In 2022, fair value movements of €2.96 million in respect of
the Groups® propetties was recognised within other comprehensive income.

An amount of €0.28 million was also recognised in the profit and loss in relation to an uplift on the
office block in London. In 2022, an impairment of €1.2 million was recognised in the profit and loss
account in relation to the impairment for the same office block, Furthermore, in 2022, a loss of €0.10
million was reflected within the profit and loss account with regards to the work in progress of Hotel
Astoria,

The Company
Land and  Plant and Motor
buildings equipment vehicles Total
€000 €000 €000 €000

Cost/Valuation
Balance at 1 Januvary 2022 968 8,202 1,306 10,476
Addidons - 4 - 4
Exchange differences - - (127) (127)
Balance at 31 December 2022 068 8,200 1,179 10,353
Balance at 1 January 2023 968 8,206 1,179 10,353
Additions - 13 - 13
Balance at 31 December 2023 968 8,219 1,179 10,366
Depteciation and impairment charges
Balance at 1 January 2022 847 8,186 1,306 10,339
Depreciation for the year 1 5 - ]
Exchange differences - - (127) (127)
Balance at 31 December 2022 848 8,191 1,179 10,218
Balance at 1 January 2023 848 8,191 1,179 10,218
Depteciadon for the yeax 1 7 - 8
Balance at 31 December 2023 849 8,198 1,179 10,226
Cartying amounts
At 1 January 2022 121 16 - 137
At 31 December 2022 120 15 - 135
At 31 December 2023 119 21 - 140
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Property, plant and equipment - contdnued
12.1 Fair valuation of property

The disclosure below, including the sensidvities to shifts in unobservable fair value inpurts, reflects the
events and circumstances existent as at 31 December 2023, and do not take into account the events that
occurred after the end of the reporting period.

In 2023, the Directors appointed independent professionally qualified property valuers to determine,
whether adjusuments were deemed necessary as at 31 December 2023, raking cognisance of
developments that occurred dunng the current financial year. As at 31 December 2023, an assessment
was catried out for those properties measured at fair value in accordance with the revaluation model
under TAS 16, to determine whether a material shift in fair value had occurred.

Where a valuation resulted in an amount that was significandy different than the carrying amount of the
respecdve property, the book value of the property was adjusted as at the year end, as the directors had
reviewed the cartying amount of the properties on the basis of assessments by the property valuers.

Accordingly, the revaluations in 2023 were made by the directors, assisted, where applicable, by
independent professionally qualified property valners having approprate trecognised professional
qualifications and experience in the location and category of the propetty being valued.

The book value of the Group’s properties has been adjusted as at 31 December 2023 on the basis of the
valuations by the property valuers. The resultant shift in value, net of applicable deferted raxes, has been
reflected within the revaluation reserve in sharehciders’ equity (Note 23) or in profit or loss in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Adjustments to the carrying amounts of the property
have been disclosed within this note.

The Group’s investments properties are measured at fair value under the TAS 40 fair value model and
are fair valued annually (refer to Note 11).

The Group 15 required to znalyse non-financial assets carried at fair value by level of the fair value
hierarchy within which the recurring fair value measurements are categorised in their entirety (Level 1,
2 or 3). The different levels of the fair value hierarchy have been defined as fair value measurements
using:

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets (Level 1);
Inpurts other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2);

* Inpurs for the asset that are not based on observable marker data (that is, unobservable inputs}

(Level 3.

The Group’s land and buildings, within propetty, plant and equipment, consists principally of hotel and
other properties thar are owned and managed by companies forming part of the Group. The Group’s
investment property comprises property that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation
ot both. The main investment properties are the Commercial Cenure in St Petersburg, the Commercial
Centre in Tripoli, a site forming part of the grounds of the Cornnthia Hotel in Tripoli, an apartment
block in Lisbon and an office block in London. During 2022, the Group acquired an office block in
London which is partly nsed as offices, and hence classified as propetty, plant and equipment and pardy
earmarked for leasing to third parties, and hence classified as investment property. In 2023, a larger
proportion of the office block was being used as offices and hence a transfer from Investment Property
was reflected. All the recurring property fair value measurements as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 use
significant unobservable inpurs and are accordingly categorised within Level 3 of the fair valuation
hierarchy.
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Property, plant and equipment - contdnued
12,1 Fair valuation of property - continned

‘The Group’s policy is 1o tecognise transfers into and out of fair value hicrarchy levels as of the beginning
of the reporting period. There were no transfers between different levels of the fair value hierarchy
during the current and preceding financial years.

A reconciliation from the opening balance to the closing balance of property for recurring fair value
measurements categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, for the currenr and preceding
financial years, is reflected in the table above and in Note 11 for investment property.

Valuation processes

The valuations of the propertes are performed regularly for property, plant and equipment and annually
for investment propetty on the basis of valuation repotts prepared by thitd party qualified valuets. These
repotts are based on both:

¢ informaton provided by the Group which is derived from the respective subsidiary’s financial
systerns and is subject to the subsidiary’s overall conttol environment; and

» assumptions and valuadon models used by the valuers; with assumptions being typically market
related and based on professional judgement and market observation.

The informadon provided to the valuers, wgether with the assumptions and the valuadon models used
by the valuers, are reviewed by designated officers within the Group. This includes a review of fair value
movements over the period. When the designated officers consider that the valvaton report is
appropriate, the valuation report is recommended to the Audit Committee and Board of Directors. The
Committee and Board then consider the valuation report as part of their overall responsibilities.

At the end of every reporting period, the designated officers within the Group assess whether any
significant changes on the developments have been experenced since the last annual valuadon of
property, plant and equipment. This is usually supported by an assessment performed by an independent
firm of property valuers. The designated officers report to the Audit Committee on the outcome of this
assessment.

Valuation techniques

The external valuations of the Level 3 property as at 31 December 2023 and 2022, have been performed
using a multi-criteria approach, with every property being valued udlising the valuation technique
considered by the external valuer to be the most appropriate for the respective property.

In view of a limited number of similar or comparable properties and property transactions, comprising
sales or rentals in the respective marker in which dhe properties are located, the valuztons have been
petformed using unobservable inputs. The significant inputs to the approaches nsed are generally those
described befow:

¢ Income capitalisation or discounted cash flow (“DCF”) approach: considers the free cash flows
arising from the projected income streams expected to be derived from the operation of the
property, discounted to present value using an estimate of the weighted average cost of capital
that would be available to finance such an operation. The significant unobservable inpurs
utilised with this technique include:
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Property, plant and equipment - continued
12.1 Fair valuation of property - continued

Valuation techniques - contnued

Earnings before interest, based on projected income streams less operating expenditure
taxes, depreciation and necessary to operate the property, but prior to depreciatdon and
smortdsatdon (EBITDA)} financing charges;

Growth rate based on management’s estimated average growth of EBITDA levels,

mainly determined by projected growth in income streams;

Discount rate reflecting the current market assessment of the uncerwminty in the
amount and tming of projected cash flows. The discount rate reflects
the estmated weighted average cost of capital that would be available
for financing such an operation. The discounr rate is based on an
assumed debt to equity ratio; estimation of cost of equity is based on
nsk free interest rates adjusted for country risk and equity risk
premium adjusted for entity-specific risk factor; estimaton of cost of
debt is based on risk free interest rates adjusted fot country risk and
assumed credit spread.

Capiralisation rate mainly a function of the WACC rate and taking into consideration the
assumed stabilised growth rate for the remaining life of the assert,

*  Adjusted sales comparison approach: a sales price per square metre related to transactions in
comparable propertes located in proximity to the respective property, with significant
adjustmentis for differences in the size, age, exact locadon and conditien of the property.

The table below includes information about fair value measurements of hotel properties (classified
within property, plant and equipment) and investment properties using significant unobservable inputs
{Level 3). For hotel properties, where, following management’s assessment or an independent valuation,
the fair value of the respective property did not differ matedally from its carrying amount as at year-end,
the fair value inputs disclosed for that respective property are those that were used in the last valuation
that gave rise to a revaluation.
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12. Property, plant and equipment - continued
12.1 Fair valuation of property - continued

Valuation techniques - continued

Information abour fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 in respect of the key properties:

Fair value at

3 £ |
Dec Dec
Descrption by class based on 2023 2022
highest and best use €000 €000 Significant nnobservable inputs
Current use a3 hotel/other Valuation technique - Income capitalisation approach (DCF)
propertes
(classified as property, Evolution of EBITDA over initial projected Pre-tax Capitalisation
plant and equipment): fivesyear period rate (WACC) Growth rate rate
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 022 2023 2022
% % %a Ya %o Yo
Corinthia Hotel & SPA FY2&-FY28 FY22.27
Lisbon 119,091 108,615 €9.5m - €107 £5.4m - €9.8m 10.53 10.28 2,00 200 853 8.28
FY2-FYZ28 FY2#FY27
Cornthia Hotel Prague 87,980 8,438 €4.7m - €7.0m €1.8m - £€7.9m 2.44 10.20 2.00 200 7.44 8.20
Marina Hotrel, St Georpe's FYZ2485Y28 FYZ23FY27
Bay, Malta 34,800 28,977 €27m - €3.0m €£2.3m - €2.5m 10.47 10.38 .00 2.00 8.4 838
Corinthia Hotel, St. FYZ24-FY28 FY23.FY27
George’s Bay, Mala 56,039 36,384 €4.5m - €4.5m £4.0m - €4.3m 10.54 13.67 2.00 200 B.54 11.67
Corinchia Horel 5t FY24-FY28 EY23 Y27
Petersburg 53,458 71,830 RUB459.1m — RUB566.4m RUB2677m - RUBG615,4m 13.74 13.85 4.74 4.85 9.0 940
FY2¢+-F¥28 FY23FY27
Corinthia Hotel Tripoh 65,400 67,133 (€£0.4m) - €2.0m (€0.5m) - £4.0m 14.14 14.45 2.00 200 1214 1245
Radisson Blu Resatt, FY24-Fy28 FY23.FY27
Malta 46,000 34028 €3.5m - €4.0m €3.2m - €3.4m 10.51 1244 200 200 8.51 10.44
Corinthia Hotel FY24-FY2§ FY23FY2z
Looden 536,213 512,990 £20.0m - £25.5m £162m - £23.0m 8.60 7.99 2.00 200 4.00 4.00
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12. Property, plant and equipment - continued
12.1 Fair valuation of property - continued

Valuation technigques - continued

Fair value at
n ) |
Dec Dec
Descrption by class based on 2023 2022
highest and best use €000 £000 Significant unobservable inputs
Current use as hotel properties Valuation technique - Income capitalisation approach (DCF)
{classified as properiy, Evolution of EBITDA over initial projected Pre-tax Capitalisaton,
plant and equipment): five-year period rate (WACC) Growth rate rate
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 b 1] 2123 2022
b Yo %a U Yo Yo
1H1 Palace Horel FY24-FY28 FY23-FYZ7
Company Limited 31,482 32,717 €hlm - €3.7m €0.9m - €2.4m 10.20 11.61 2,00 200 8.20 9.61
Golden Sands Resort FY24-FYZ8 FYZRFY27
Malta ’ 68,000 2,455 €4.3m - €6.5m €3.0m - €4.2m 10.39 B.48 AL 200 8.39 646
Aguincum Hotel FY24-FY28 FY23.FYZ?
Budapiest 20,638 23,602 £1.2m - €l.1m (E1.2m) - €1.8m 9.25 12.44 .00 2.00 7.25 10,44
Rarmada Ploza Fy2+-FY28 FY23 FYZ7
Tunis 14,308 14,581 €1.0m - £1.8m El.7m - €£1.8m 13.61 14.28 2.00 200 11.61 12.28
Corituthia Howel FY2£FY28 FY23-FY27
Dudapest 116,025 119,632 £5.3m - €10.0m €3.8m - £10.4m 10.02 10.06 2.00 2.00 £.02 806
Valuation technique — Adjusted sales-compatison approach
Sales price per square meter
Office block in London 7,160 4,574 L£11,508 £8,123
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12, Property, plant and equipment - condnued

12.1 Fair valuation of property - continued

Valuation techniques - continued

Description by class based on

highest and best use

Current property for
commercial vse {classified as
irrvestment property}:

Commercial Cengre in

5t Petersburg

Commercial Centee in

Tripoh

Current property for
commercial use {classificd as
inveshment property):

Apartment block in Lishon
Sire in Marsa

Sire in Topoli

Sire in Czech Republic
Cifice block in London

i
Dec
2023

€000

38,316

83,260

6,546
2,636
29,500
7,673
4,174

Fair value at
31

Dec

2022

€000

52,484

75,344

5,908
3,636
29,500
7,866
4,446

Bignificant unobservable inputs
Valuation technique - Income capitalisation appreach (DCF)

Evolution of EBITDA over initial projected

2023

FY2H-FYZ28
RUB7.1m - EUB390.0m

FY24-FY28
€4.5m - £3.8m

2023

€8,833
€70

€94
£11,508

five-year period
2022

FY23FYZ7
RUB7.3m - RUB437.7m

FY23.FY27
€0.5m - €4.7m

Valyation techaigue — Adjusted sales-compatison approach

Sales price per square meter

2022

£5,172
&0

£2.300
€26

(812

Pre-tax

rawe (WACC)
2023 2022
U B
12.33 12.80
7483 848

2023
Yo

4.0}

0.00

Growth rate
2022
Y

4.00

0.00

Capitalisation
Rave

2023 2022
% Yo
833 8.80
7.63 848
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Property, plant and equipment - continued
12,1 Fair valuation of propetiy - contnucd

In relation to the DCF approach, an increase in the projected level of EBITDA and growth rate would
result in an increased fair value of the property, whereas a higher discount rate would give rise to a lower
fair value. With tespect to the adjusted sales comparison approach, the higher the sales price per square
metre, the higher the resultant fair valuation.

The Group experienced a significant movement in the carrying amount of the Corinthia Hotel London
in 2022, followed by another uplift in 2023, Uplifts in value were also recognised in the current year for
Corinthia Hotel St. George’s, Radisson Blu Resort, Marina Hotel, Golden Sands Resort Hotel and
Corinthia Hotel Lishon, against fair value losses recognised in Corinthia Hotel Budapest and Thermal
Hotel Aquincum. A considerable fair value loss on the carrying amount of the Cotinthia Hotel St.
Petersburg was reflected in 2022 as a result of the prevailing uncertainty in Russia, as further explained
in Note 5.2. The shift in the carrying amounts of the Corinthia Hotel 5t. Petersbusrg and Corinthia Hotel
London in 2023 and 2022 were aiso affected by translating the financial posidon of the respectve
subsidiaries that own these properties from their functional currencies (RUB and GBP respectively) into
the Group’s presentation currency {EUR) at year end,

As evidenced in the tables above, the highest and best use of the Group properties is equivalent to their
current use as at 31 December 2023,

As explained in Note 5 to the financial statements, the future performance of the Group’s hotels and
the Commercial Centres situated in Tripoli and Russia and the fair value of the relared property assets
are largely dependent on how soon the pelitical and economical situation in Libya and the geopolitical
situation between Russia and the west will return 1o normality and on how quickly the international oil
and gas industry recovers and how soon international sanctions are lifted once political risks subside. As
at 31 December 2023 no further impairment charges were deemed necessary on the Ttipoli and Russia
property assets in these financial statements.
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Property, plant and equipment - continued
12.1 Fair valuaton of property - continued

The sensitivity of the property valuatons to possible shifts in key assumptions is llustrated in the table
below:

Shift in discount rate Shift in cash flows
{(+/-1%) (+/-1%) (EBITDA) (+/-5.00%)
2023 2022 2023 2022
€000 €000 €000 €000
g , -12,145 to -11,903 to +/- 5,957 +/- 5,381
Corinthia Hotel & Spa Lisbon +15,357 +15,183
- -10,300 to -10,43% to +/-4,399 +/- 4472
Coriathia Hotel Pragre +13,501 113577
Marina Hotel, St George’s Bay, -3,551 to -2.971 to +/-1,740 +/- 1,449
Malta +4,501 +3,775
Corinthiza Hotel, $t George’s Bay, -5,672 to -2,725 to +/-2,802 +/-1,819
Malta +7,175 +3,235
Coriathia Hotel, St Petersburg -1,865 to +1,960 -2,616 o +2,750 +/-2,673 +/- 3,592
Corinthia Hote! Tripoli -7,910 to +9,557 -7.623 w +9,158 +/- 3,246 +/-3357
Commercial Centre in 5t Petersburg  =4,265 to +5,442  -5,693 1o +7,176 +/=1,911 +/- 2,624
. o -10,460 to -841% to +/- 4,163 +/- 3,765
Commercial Centre in Tripoli +13,722 +10.765 s
. -4,667 to -2,836 1o +/-2,300 +/- 1,702
Radisson Blu Resort, Malea +5,900 13436
Corinthia Hotel London +/- 7,987 +/- 34,000 +/- 8,170 +/- 22,000
IHI Palace Hotel Company Limited -4,449 to +5,712  -2,752 to +3,410 +/-1,574 +/- 1,302
Aquincum Hotel Budapest -1,700 to +2,200  -1,500 to +1,90) +/- 657 +/-716
Ramada Plaza Tuenis Hotel -1,100 to +1,400  -1,1G0 to+1,200 +/- 717 +/- 742
. -12,912 to -13,760 to +/- 5,801 +/- 5,982
Corinthia Hotel Budapest +16,599 +17,687 '
-7,611t -8,119
Golden Sands Resort, Mala ';'9,67('}: +’1 1,0;3 +/- 3,400 +/-3,123

12.2 Historic cost basis of properties

If the cost model had been used, the catrying amounts of the revalued properties would be €977.18
million (2022: €993.42 million). The revalued amounts include 2 revaluadon sutpius of €126.76 million
after tax (2022: €108.67 million), which is not available for distribution to the shareholders of CPHCE..

12.3 Use as collateral

All tangible fixed assets owned by the Group, except for the Corinthia Hotel and Commercial Centre in
St. Petersburg, the Corinthia Oasis land, the BCM plant and underlying land in Benghasir, Libya, the land
in Misurata, Libya, and the Konopiste property in the Czech Republic, are hypothecated in favour of the
Group’s bankers as collateral for amounts borrowed as stated in Note 25. The Cotinthia Hotel Budapest
is hypothecated in favour of a bond as stated in Note 26.
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13,

Leases

This note provides information for leases whete the Group is a lessee. For leases where the Group is a
lessor, see Naote 11,

1. tecopnised in the statement of financial posidon

The statement of financial position shows the following amounts relating to leases:

The Group The Company

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2023 2022 2023 2022
€000 €000 €000 €000

Right-of-use assets
Land and buildings 15,830 13,602 - -
Plant and equipment 2,127 1,443 - -
Motot vehicles 671 357 142 56
18,628 15,402 142 56

Lease liahilities

Current 2,889 2,214 29 57
Non-current 17,943 15,018 116 -
20,832 17,232 145 57

Addidons o the Group’s and the Company’s right-of-use assets duting the 2023 financial year were
€6.01 million (2022: €3.49 million) and €0.11 million {2022: €0.06 million) respectvely.

ii. Amounts recognised in the income statement

The income statement shows the following amounts relating to leases:

The Group The Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2023 2022 2023 2022
€000 €000 €000 €000
Depreciation charge of
right-of-use assets
Land and buildings 1,870 2,304 - -
Plant and equipment 602 475 - -
Motor vehicles 201 164 17 3
2,673 2,943 17 3

Interest expense {included in
finance cost) 1,076 925 5 1

Expense relating to variable

lease payments not included

in lease liabilities (included in

administrative expenses) 596 7N - -
Expenses relating to short-

term leases and low-value

assets {included in

administrative expenses) 208 216 81 81
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13,

Leases - condnued

i, Amounts recognised in the income statement - continued

The total cash outflow for leases in 2023 was €5.16 million (2022; €5.39 million) for the Group and €0.11
million (2022: €0.09 million} for the Company.

iil. The Group’s leasing activities and how these are accounted for

The Gtoup leases various offices, land, retail outlets, plant and equipment and motor vehicles.
Emphyteutical grants from the government pertaining to land on which the Group’s Malta hotel
properties are built are typically made for fixed petiods of up to 99 years. Other contracts are made for
periods up to 12 years and may include extension options as described further below. The Company’s
leases pertain to offices used for administration purposes and motot vehicles and are typically made for
periods of up to 9 years.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different rerms and
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the
leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing

purposes.

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date ar which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Assets and liabilides arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease payments:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable

» vatiable lease payments that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index
or rate as at the commencement date
amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees, and
the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably cereain to exercise that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are alse included in the
measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest tate hmplicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be
readily determined, which is genetally the case for leases in the Group, the incremental borrowing rate
is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to
obtain an asset of similar value 1o the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar
terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rare, the Group uses recent third-party financing received by
the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since third
patty financing was teceived, and for other items specific to the leased asset.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in vadable lease payments based on an index or rate,
which are nor included in the lease liabilicy untll they take effect. When adjustments to lease payments
based on an index or tate take effect, the lease labilicy is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use
asset.

Lease paymenis are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged w0 profit
or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance

of the liability for each period.
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13,

Leases - condnued

iii. The Group’s leasing actvities and how these are accounted for - continued

Righi-of-use assets are measured ar cost comprising the amount of the inidal measurement of lease
liability. Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the
lease term on a straight-line basis, If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the
right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life. While the Group revalues its land
and buildings that are presented within property, plant and equipment, it has chosen not to do so for the
right-of-use assets attributable to land and buildings held by the Group.

Payments associated with short-term leases and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-
line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or
less.

iv, Variahle| 1

Variable payment tetms ate used for a varety of reasons including minimising the fixed costs base for
newly established stores.

Some property leases contain variable payment terms that are linked to sales generated from retail stores,
and which range from 10.00% to 23.50% of sales. An increase of €1.00 million in sales per stose in the
Group with such variable lease contracts would increase vartable lease payments by approximarely €0.20
million (17.00%).

Other property leases contain variable payment terms that are linked to sales generated from catering
establishments, Variable payment on such leases range from 15.00% ro 25.00% of sales. An increase of
€1.00 million in sales per catering establishment in the Group with such variable lease contracts would
increase total lease payments by approximately €0.21 million (21.00%).

The variable lease payments element amounts o €0.60 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
(2022 €0.79 million), Variable lease payments that depend on sales are excluded from the measurement
of the lease liability and are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the condition that triggers
those payments occurs.
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14,

Leases - contnued

v. Extension and termination oprions

Extension and termination optons are included in a number of property and equipment leases across
the Group. These are used to maximise operational flexibility in tertns of managing the assets used in
the Group’s operations,

Judgements in determining the lease term

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an cconosnic
incentive to exercise an extension option, ot not exercise a termination opion. Extension optons (or
periods after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease 1s reasonably certain to
be extended (or not terminated).

For leases of retail outlets, the following factors are normally the most relevane:

e If there are significant penalties wo terminate (ot not extend), the Group is typically reasonably
certain to exrend (or not terminate).

e If any leasehold improvements are expected to have a significant remaining value, the Group is
typically reasonably certain to extend (or not terminate).

¢  Otherwise, the Group considers other factors including historical lease durations and the costs
and business disruption required to replace the leased asset.

Most extension options in offices and motor vehicles leases have not been included in the lease liabiliry,
because the Group could replace the assets without significant cost ot business disruption.

Investments in subsidiaries

The amounts stated in the statement of financial position of the Company are analysed as follows:

2023 2022

€000 €000

Equity in subsidiary companies 346,444 350,643
Loans to subsidiary cotmpanies 4,215 4,476
350,659 355,119
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14. Investments in subsidiaries - contnued

14.1 Principal subsidiaries

The Group had the following subsidiaries as at 31 December:

Subsidiary
company

Quoted

International Horel
Investments p.lc.

(IHI p.l.c)
Unquoted

16 Craven House

Limited
Afina Ag

Alfa Investimentos

Turisticos Lda

Amber Hotels s.r.o.

Bay Point Hotel

Limited

Bay Point

Collection Limited

Registered
office

22, Europa Centre, Floriana,
Malta

10 Whitehall Place, London
SW1A 28D, UK

c/o TrevhandBaar AG,
Miihlegasse 12a,
6341 Baar

Avenida Columbana Bordalo
Pinheiro, 105,
Lisboa 1099-031, Porrugal

Milevska 7, Prague 4,
Czech Republic

22, Buropa Centre, Flotiana,
Malta

First Name House, Victoria
Residence, Douglas,
Isle of Man

Natute of
business

Investment
COmpany

Property owner

Investmment
company

Hotel owner
and operator

Hotel owner
and operator

Hotel owner
and operator

Vacation
ownership
company

Pereentage of ownership

and vodng rights held
directly by the Group

2023 2022

% %

58 58

58 58

100 100

58 58

100 100

58 58

58 58

Percentage of ownership  Percentage of ownership and

and voting rights held
directly by the Company
2023 2022
Yo %o
58 58
100 100

voting rights held by non-
controlling interests
2023 2022
% Y
42 42
42 42
42 42
42 42
42 42
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14. Investments in subsidiaries - continued

14.1 Principal subsidiaries - continued

Subsidiary
cotmpany

Benghasir
Concrete

Manufacturing

Joint Stock
Company

Benghasir for
Construction

Company

Catering
Contractors
Limited*

CaterMax
Lirmnited

Comox
Hnterprises
Limited

Registered
office

Airport Highway,
Tripoli, Libya

Souk Al Thulatha Al
Gadim,
Tripoli, Libya

22, Europa Centre,

Floriana, Malta

22, Europa Centre,
Floriana, Malta

Nature of
business

Non-trading
company

Non-trading

company

Non-trading
company

Event catering

Agjou Nicolan, 41-49  Investment
Nimeli Court, Egkomi company

PC2408, Nicosia
Cyprus

Percentage of ownership
and voting rights held
directly by the Group

2023 2022
Yo Ya
100 100
92 50
100 100
58 58
100 100

Percentage of ownership

and voting rights held
directly by the Company
2023 2022
% Yo
10 10
1060 100
100 100

*Catering Contractors Limited was put into liquidation in 2022 and was struck off on 5§ January 2024.

Percentage of ownership and
voting rights beld by non-

condroiling interests

2023
%%

10

42

2022
%%

10

42
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14. Investments in subsidiaries - contnued

14,1 Principal subsidiaties - continued

Subsidiary
company

Cotinthia Hotels
Limited

Corinthia Hotels
(UK Litnited

CHL US Parent, Inc

CHL Surrey, Inc

Corinthia Hotels
Holdings s.rl.

Corinthia Hotels
(Maldives) Privare
Limited

Registered Nature of

office business

1, Buropa Centte, Hotel

Floriana, Malta management
company

Corinthia Hotel London, Management
Whitchall Place, London  consulmncy
SW1A 28D services

251, Little Falls Drive Investment
Wilmingten, New Castle  company
Delaware DE 19808

United Srares

251, Little Falls Drive Hortel
Wilmingron, New Castle management
Delaware DE 19808 company
United States

8, Piazza Di San Silvestro, Holding
Rome CAP 00187, Italy company

#0201, Millenia Tower Hoatel

10, Ameer Ahmed Magu management
Male’, 20026 company
Republic of the Maldives

Percentage of ownership

and voting rights held
directly by the Group
2023 2022
% Yo
58 58
58 58
58 58
58 58
58 58
58 -

Percentage of ownership
and voting rights held
directly by the Company
2023 2022
% %

Percentage of ownership and

voting rights held by non-
controlling interests
2023 2022
%o %o
42 42
42 42
42 42
42 42
42 42
42 "
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14. Investments in subsidiaries - continued

14.1 Principal subsidiaries - continued

Subsidiary

company

CHL Hotels Brussels
s.r.l.

Corinthia Parlamento
s.r.l

Corinthia Caterers
Limited

Corinthia Company
Limited

CPHCL Construction
(Overseas) Limited

Coninthia
Developments
Internadenal Limited

CPHCL Finance p.l.c.

Corinthia Holdings
Overseas Limited

Bezemer Limired

Registered
office

Rue Royale, 103
1000, Brussels
Belgium

WNature of
business

Hotel
managernent
company

8, Piazza Ih San Silvestro, Rome Hotel

CAP (0187, Italy

22, Europa Centre, Floriana,
Malea

22, Europa Centte, Floriana,
Malra

22, Europa Centre, Floriana,
Malta

22, Europa Centre, Floriana,
Malta

22, Buropa Centre, Floriana,
Malea

22, Buropa Centre, Floriana,
Malea

Nerine Chambers,
'O Box 905, Road Town,
Tortola, BVI

management
company

Event catering

Investment

© company

Non-trading
company
Project
management

Investment
company
Investment
company
Investment
company

Percentage of ownership Percentage of ownership

and voting rights held
directly by the Group
2023 2022
% %%
58 -
58 58
58 58
58 58
160 100
58 58
100 100
100 100
58 58

and voting rights held
directly by the Company
2023 2022
%o F]
100 100
100 100
100 160

Percentage of ownership

and voting rights held by
non-controlling interests
2023 2022
% %

42 -

42 42

42 42

42 42

42 42

42 42
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14, Investments in subsidiaries - condnued
14.1 Principal subsidiaries - continued

Subsidiary Registered Nature of
company office business

CPHCL Investments 1, Brentharmm House  Investment

{UK) Limnited 43c High Street company
Hampton Wick
Kingston-Upon-
Thames, Surrey, UK
Coarinthia (Malta) Staff 22, Europa Centre,  Holding
Services Limited Floriana, Malta company
CPHCL Holdings 22, Buropa Centre,  Investment
Limired Flotiana, Malta company

CPHCL Panorama ~ Milevska 7, Prague 4  Hotel operator
SO Czech Republic

Percentage of ownership

and voting rights held
directly by the Group

2023 2022

% %o

100 100

58 58

100 100

100 100

Percentage of ownership Percentage of ownership and
and voting rights held voting rights held by non-

directly by the Company controlling interests

2023 2022 2023 20622

Yo % % Yo

100 100 - -

- - 42 42

100 100 - -

100 100 - -
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14. Invesuments in subsidiaries - continued

14.1 Principal subsidiaries - continued

Subsidiary
compary

Corinthia Services
Limited

Corinthja Towers
Tripoli Limited

Corinthia Hotels
Management DMCC

Corinthia Tunisie sarl

Summerday Turizm
Yatirimlari Ticaret a.5.

CPHCL Investments
Lirited

Danish Bakery Limited

Registered Nature of
office business
34, Place de 7 Non-trading
November 1987, company

Tunis, Tunisia
22, BEutopa Cenrre,  Hotel owner
Floriana, Malta and opetator

Unit No. AG-13-H- Hotel

F121, AG Tower, Plot management
No, JLT-PH1I-I1A, company
Jumeirah Lakes

Towers, Dubai,

United Arab Emiraces

Les Cotes de Carthage Non-trading
Ghammarth, Tunisia company

Tayyareci Ethem Hotel owner

Sokak No.24 Kat4

Daire 13, 80090

Gumussuyu Istanbul

Turkey

22, Europa Centre, Investment

Floriana, Malta company

22, Europa Centre,  Industrial

Floriana, Malta bakery
operations

Percentage of ownership

and voting rights held
directly by the Group

2023 2022

% %

100 100

58 58

58 58

100 100

100 100

100 100

65 65

Percentage of ownership

and voting rights held
directly by the Company

2023 2022

Yo %

100 100

100 100

100 100

65 65

Percentage of ownership and
voting rights held by non-
controlling interests

2023
Yo

42

42

35

2022
%

42

42

35
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14. Invesuments in subsidiaries - condnued

14.1 Principal subsidiaries - contnued

Subsidiary
company

D.X. Design

Consultancy Limited
Five Star Hotels Limited

Golden Sands Resort

Limited

Qualicy Talent Limited
(formetly Recruitment &
Quality Talent Limited)

Hotel Astoria SA

House of Catering for
Catering Services Co,

Limited

Registere-d Nature of
office business

22, Europa Centre, Project
Floriana, Malta management

22 Buropa Centre, Hotel owner
Floriana, Malta and operator

The Radisson SAS  Hotel ownet
Golden Sands Resortand operator

& Spa

Golden Bay

1/ 0 Mellicha, Malta

22, Buropa Centre, Consultancy
Flotiana, Malta services

Rue Royale, 103 Property owner
1000, Brussels

Belgium

Souk Al Thulatha Al Non-uading
Gadim company
Tripoli, Libya

Percentage of ownership
and voting rights held
directly by the Group

2023
%

58

58

58

100

29

100

2022
Yo

58

58

58

100

29

100

Percenvage of ownership

and voting rights held

directly by the Company

2023
%

100

10

2022

%

100

10

Percentage of ovnership and
voting rights held by non-
controlling interests

2023
Yo
42
42

42

7

2022
Y%
42
42

42

71
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14. Investments in subsidiaries - continued

14.1 Principal subsidiaries - continued

Subsidiary Registered Nature of
company office business
IHI Holdings Limiced 34, Kosti Palama  Invesunent company

1096, Aspelia Court
4% Floor, Office D4
Nicosia, Cyprus

IHI Hungary Zrt Erzsebet Kit, 43-49 Hotel owner and
H-1073 Budapest  operator
Hungary

IHI Lisbon Limited 22, Europa Centre, Invesunent company
Floriana, Malea

THI Palace Hotel Company 22, Europz Centre, Hotel owner and

Limited (formerly Corinthia Floriana, Malta operator

Palace Hotel Company

Limited)

IHI St Petersburg IL.I.C 57, Nevskij Prospect Hotel owner and
St Petersburg operator
191025, Russian
Federation

IHY Towers s.r.0 Kongresova 1655/1 Hotel owner and
1406/69 Praha 4  operator
Czech Republic

and voting rights held
directly by the Group

2023 2022

qfﬂ |:,‘f"l]

58 &8

58 58

58 58

58 58

58 58

58 58

Percentage of ownership  Percentage of ownership

and voting rights held
directly by the Company
2023 2022
Yo %

Percentage of ownership

voting rights held by non-
controlling interests

2023 2022

%% &

42 42

42 42

42 42

42 42

42 42

42 42
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14. Investments in subsidiaries - continued

14.1 Principal subsidiaries - continued

Subgidiary
company

IHI Zagreb d.d.

IHI Benelux BV,

International Operating
and Managing Facilities
Establishments Limited

Registered
office

Centar Kaptol

Nature of

business

Inavestment

Nova Kes 11, 10000 company

Zagreb, Croatia

Kingsfordweg 151
1043 GR
Amsterdam

The Nethetlands

Souk Al Thulatha
Al Gadim Tripoli,
Libya

Hotel owner and
operaror

Non- trading
company

Percentage of ownership

and voting trights held
directly by the Group
2023 2022
% %
58 58
58 58
100 100

Percentage of ownership
and voting rights held
directly by the Company
2023 2022
% %

10 10

Percentage of awnership and

voting rights held by non-
controlling interests
2023 2022
U/D D,/O
42 42
42 42
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14, Investments in subsidiaries - continued

14.1 Principal subsidiaries - continued

Subsidiary
company

Island Resorts

International Limited

Kongpiste Property

Holding s.r.0.

Libya Hotels &
Development
Investments ].5.C.

Malta Fairs and

Conventions Centre

Limited (MFCC Limited)

Marina San Gorg Limited

Marsa Investments
Limited

Misurata Holdings
Limited

Registered

office

First Name House
Victoria Residence

Douglas, Isle of Man

Milevska 1695/7
Prague 4
Czech Republic

Benghazi, Libya

Millenium Stand
Level 1, National
Stadmm

Ta’ Qali, Aetard

22, Europa Centre,

Floriana, Malta

22, Europa Centre,

Floriana, Malta

22, Europa Centre,
Flotiana, Malta

Nature of
business

Investment
company

Hotel owner

Hotel owner

Trade conference
and leisuze
conventons

Hotel owner and
operator

Investment
property owner
and hotel
operator

Non-trading
company

Percentage of ownership

and voting rights held
directly by the Group

2023 2022

% %

58 58

100 100

32 32

100 100

58 58

100 100

100 100

Percentage of ownership

and voting rights held
directly by the Company
2023 2022
% %o
160 100
100 100
100 100

Percentage of ownership and

voting tights held by non-
controlling interests
2023 2022
% %
42 42
68 68
42 42
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14, Investments in subsidiaries - condnued
14,1 Principal subsidiaries - continued

Nature of
business

Subsidiary Registered
company office

NLI Holdings Limited CTV House Parent company of a

La Pouquelaye group that owns and

St Helier operates the Corinthia

Jersey Hote! London and 10
Whitehall Place in
London, UK

NLI Hotels Limited CTV House Hotel owner

La Pouquelaye

St Helier

Jetsey

NLI Operator Limited Corinthia Hotel — Hotel operator
London, Whitehall

Place, London
SW1A 28D

NLI Brussels Limited 22, Europa Centre, Holding company
Floriana, Malta

Percentage of ownership

and voting rights held
directdy by the Group

2023 2022

9!”0 0/"0

29 20

29 29

29 29

29 29

Percentage of ownership  Percentage of ownership and
and voting rights held voting rights held by non-
directly by the Company controlling interests
2023 2022 2023 2022
% % %o %
- - 1 71
- - n 71
- - il 71
- - n 71
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14. Investments in subsidiaries - continued

14,1 Principal subsidiaries - condnued

Subsidiary
company

Palm Waterfront
Dewelopment Limited

Palm Waserfront J.S.C.

QPM Africa Limited

QPM Belgium SPRL

QPM Limited

Right Structures Limired**

Societe Dle Promoton
Hoteliere Khamsa

Medi International Timited

Registered
office

22, Europa Centre,
Flotiana, Malta

Tripoli, Libya
22, Europa Centre,
Flonana, Malta

Avenue de
Tervueren 168/18
1150 Woluwe-Saint
Pierre, Brussels
Belgium

22, Europa Centre,
Floriana, Malta

22, Buropa Centre,
Fleriana, Malra

Les Cotes de
Carthage
Gamimarth, Tunisia

MNature of
business

Non-wrading company

Property owner
Non-trading company

Project management
services

Project management
services

Non-trading company

Hotel owner and
operator

Level 1, Palim Grove Internal financing

House
Wickham’s Cay 1

Road Town, Tortola
British Virgin Islands

Percentage of ownership Percentage of ownership

and voting rights held
directly by the Group

2023 2022

Yo %

100 100

100 -

58 58

58 58

58 58

100 100

100 100

58 58

** Right Structures Limited was put into liquidaﬁon in 2022 and was struck off on 3 January 2024,

and voting rights held
directly by the Company
2023 2022
% %
100 100
5 -
63 63

Percentage of ownership and

voting rights held by non-
controlling interests

2023 2022

% %

42 42

42 42

42 42

412 42
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14. Investments in subsidiaries - continued

14.1 Principal subsidiaries - continued

Subsidiary

company

Swan Laundry and Dry

Cleaning Company
Limited

The Coffee Company

Malta Limited

Corinthia Oasis Company 22, Europa Centre,

Limited

Registered
office

22, Europa Centre,
Floriana, Malta

22, Ewropa Centre,
Florana, Malea

Floriana, Malra

Thermal Hotel Aquincum Aspad Fejedelem

Re

Utja 94, H-1036
Budapest Hungary

Verdi Hospitality Limited 1, Europa Centre,

Floriana, Malta

MNatre of
business

Industrial lavadry

operations

Franchise retail
catering

Property owner

Hotel owner and
Dperator

Heortel management
company

Percentage of ownership Percentage of ownership

and voting rights held and voting rights held
directly by the Group  directly by the Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
Yo %o %o %o
100 100 100 100
58 58 - -
58 58 - -
100 160 - .
58 - - -

Percentage of ownership and

voting rights held by non-
controlling interests

2023 2022

ofﬂ U/D

42 42

42 42

42 -
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14.

Investments in subsidiaries - condnued
14.1 Principal subsidiaries - condnued
All subsidiary undertakings are included in the consolidation.

14.2 Movements in investment in subsidiaries

The Company
€000

Equity investments in subsidiaries
At 1 January 2022 352,270
Impairment on equity investments {1,627
At 31 December 2022 350,643
At 1January 2023 350,643
Acquisidon 2
Impairment on equity investmenis (4,201)
At 31 December 2023 346,444

All investments were purchased by the Company at the nominal value of shares received i.e. at pat,
except for Corinthia Construction (Overseas) Limited which was acquired for €3.40 million,

Dbt investmenis in subsidiaries

The Company effected additional advances to its subsidiaries which are considered to be a component
of the long-term investment. The net advances amounted to €0.16 million (2022: €0.59 million) which
principally relate to Amber Hotels s.r.0..

14.3 Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests

The Group includes two subsidiaries, Danish Bakery Limited and International Hotel Investments p.l.c.
(IHI Group), with material non-controlling intereses (NCI):

Name of subsidiary Proportion of ownership

interest and voting Profit/ (loss)
rights held by NCI allocated w0 NCI Accumulated NCI
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Yo % €000 €000 €000 €000
Danish Bakery Limited 35 35 135 08 1,173 1,248
THI Group (incl. NLI
Group) 42 42 (5,724} 2,112 479,601 465231

Dividends paid to NCI of Danish Bakery Limited were €0.21 million {2022: nil) whilst no dividends
were paid to NCI from International Hotel Investments p.lc. in 2023 and 2022,

The total non-controlling interests as at 31 December 2023 is €480.78 million (2022: €466,48 million),
of which €479.61 million (2022: €465.23 million) is atrribusable to the IHI Group and €1.17 million
(2022: €1.25 million) is attriburable to Danish Bakery Limited.
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14,

Investments in subsidiaries - contdnued

14.3 Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests - continued

Summarised financial informaton for Danish Bakery Limired, the THI Group (including the NLI
Group), and separately, the NLI Group, before intragroup ¢eliminadons, is set out below:

Non-current assets
Current assets

Tortal assets

Non-current liabifites
Current liabitifies

Total abilides

Equity aitributable to owners
of CPHCL

Non-controlling interests

Danish Bakery THI Group NLI Group
Limited
(including NLI
Group)

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000
2,156 2027 1,617,595 1,534,561 633,108 575,730
3,309 4,558 150,741 127 471 48,838 47,385
5,465 6,585 1,768,336 1,662,032 681,946 623,115

(3) (22) (787,583) (690,153) (186,438) (164,471)
(2,046) (2,932) (144,405) (153,987) (48,619) (35932
(2,04%) (2,954 (931,988) (844,140) (235,057) (200,403)

2,220 2360 356,747 352,661 129,598 122,586
1,196 1,271 479,601 465,231 317,291 300,126
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14,

Investments in subsidiaries - contnued

14.3 Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests - continued

Danish Bakery ITHI Group NLI Group
(including NLI Group)
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Revenue 6,834 5,974 287,773 238,207 92,605 82,519
(Loss)/ profit for the

year attributable to

owners of the par=nt 250 183 (5,579) (4,454) (546) 1,509
(Loss)/ profit for the

year attriburable to

NCI 135 93 (5,724) 2,112 (1,337} 3,695
{Loss)/profit for the 385 281 (11,303) (2,342) (1,883) 5,204

year
Other comprehensive

income attributable to

owners of the parent - - 9,673 {7,460) 7,557 (2,941)
Other comprehensive

income attributable

to NCI - - 20,086 (10,516} 18,503 {7,200)
Other comprehensive

income for the year - - 29,759  (17,982) 26,060 (10,141
Total comprehensive

income for the year

atrributable to owners

of the parent 250 183 4,094 {11,920) 7,011 (1,432)
Total comprehensive

income for the year

attributable to NCI 135 08 14,362 (8,404 17,166 (3,505
Total comprehensive

income for the year 385 281 18,456 (20,324) 24,177 (4,937)
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14.

15.

Investments in subsidiaries - continued

14.3 Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests - continued

Danish Bakery IHI Group NLI Group
Limited {including NLI Group)
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
€000 €000 €000 €000 €006 €000
Net cash generated from '
operating activities 805 98 57,521 49,781 22,135 17,493
Net cash used in
investing activities (459} (769)  (54,066) (38,672)  (35,714) (12,378)
Net cash {used
in}/generated from
financing actvites (600} - 19,180 (46,789) 20,100 373
Net cash
{outflow)/inflow (254} (671) 22,635 (35,080} 6,521 5,488

14.4 Impairment allowances

The carrying amount of the investment and lean in/to Corinthia Tunisie Sarl, Catering Contractors
Limited, Cotinthia Heldings Overseas Limited, Corinthia Palace Holdings Limited and Societe de
Promotion Hoteliere Khamsa had been impaired in prior years. Further credit loss allowances
amounting to €1.63 million on the investment in Societe de Promotion Khamsa were accounted for in
2022 following an assessment carried out by management. During the current year impaitments of
€4.04 million were recognised with respect to the invesuments in Societe de Promotion Hoteliere
Khamsa, CPHCL Construction {Overseas) Limited, CPHCL Investments Limited and Amber Hotels
s..0.. There has been no impairment in the carrying values of the other investments,

Investments in associates and joint ventures
15.1 Investments accounted for using the equity method - Group

The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position are as follows:

The Group

2023 2022

€000 €000
Associates (Note 15.3) 108,103 104,704
At 31 December 168,103 104,704
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15. Investments in associates and joint ventures - continued
15.1 Investments accounted for using the equity method - Group - continued

‘The amounts recognised in the consolidated income statement are as follows:

The Group
2023 2022
€000 £000
Associates (Note 15.3.1) 6,360 5,317
For the year ended 31 December 6,360 5317

The amounts recognised in the consolidated other comprehensive income ate as follows:

The Group
2023 2022
€000 €000
Associates (Note 15.3.1) 57 337
For the year ended 31 December 57 337

15.2 Investments in associates using cost model - Company

The amounts recognised in the Company’s statement of financial posidon are as follows:

The Company
2023 2022
€000 €000
Associates - at 31 Decembet (Note 15.3) 24,002 24,002

15.3 Investmemnts in associates

The amounts stated in the statement of financial position of the Group and Company are analysed as

follows:
The Group The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
€000 €000 €000 €000
Equity in associate companies (Note 15.3.1} 104,788 101,377 24,002 24,002
Loans to associate companies 3,315 3,327 - -

108,103 104,704 24,002 24,002
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15.  Investments in associates and joint ventures - continued
15.3 Investments in associates - continued

15,3.1 Equity in associate companies

The Group The Company

2023 2022 2023 2022

€000 €000 €000 €000
At 1January 101,377 95,716 24,002 24,002
Impairment of Associate - (6) - -
Share of results 6,360 5,317 - -
Share of other comprehensive income 57 337 - -
Dividend (3,000) - - -
Other movements (6) 13 - -
At 31 December 104,788 101,377 24,002 24,002

Set out below are the associates of the Group as at 31 Decembesr 2023 and 31 December 2022, The
associates listed below have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares.
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15. Investments in associates and joint ventures - continued
15.3 Investments in associates - continued

15.3.1 Equity in associate companies - continued

Company name Registered office  Nature % of ownership interest held by
of business The Group The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
% % %% %o
B.C.W. Limited 3, Princess BElizabeth Non-trading 33 33 33 33
Terrace, Ta” Xbiex  company
Malta
Café€ Jubilee Zrt 1055 Budapest Non-trading 50 50 50 50
Szent Isrvan krt. 13 company
Hungary
Crust Foods Limited 22, Europa Centre  Restaurant and 26 26 - -
Floriana Malta café
EUBFLE S.R.L. Piazza Monsignor  Bakery, rerail 33 33 - -
(previously Jespers Iralia Umberto Rossi, 2 shop
S.R.L)* 14032
Casorzo, Ast
Ttaly
Medina Tower ].5.C.  Suite 107, Tower 2 Owns the Medina 27 27 - -
Level 10 Tower Project
Butj Al Fateh
Tripoli, Libya
Mediterranean 22, Europa Centre  Investment 50 50 50 50
Investments Holding  Flodana, Malea company
p.lc

* Pur into liquidadon in 2023
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15,

Investments in associates and joint veniures - contnued
15.3 Investments in associates - continued

15.3.1 Equity in associate companies - contnued

Compaty name Registered office  Nature % of ownership interest held by
of business The Group The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
o/l] l::’{D 0/0 0/0
Palm City Limited 22, Buropa Centre  Property 50 50 - -
Floriana, Malta development and
operator
Palm Watetfront 22, Europa Centre  Property 50 50 - -
Limited Floriana, Malta development and
operator
Scalotel-Sociedade Avenida Madre Hotel owner 4 41 - -
Escalabitana Hoteleira Andaliz Freguesia de
8.4. Marvila, Cancelho de
Santarermn, Portugal

All associates except for Mediterranean Investments Holding p.l.c. are private companies. There is no
quoted market price available for the shates of all associates.

The directors consider Medina Tower ].5.C. and Mediterranean Investments Holding plc. to be
matesial associates of the Group.

15.3.2 Summarised financial information for matetial associates

Summarised financial information of the material assodates is included in dhe table below:

Medina Tower ].5.C

2023 2022

£000 €000
Non-current assets 16,627 17,004
Current assets 7,350 7,671
Total assets 23,977 24,735
Current liabilities 271 923
Total abilities n 93
(Loss) for the year (9% (213
Other comprehensive income (656) 321
Total comprehensive income (755} 108
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Investments in associates and joint ventures - continued
15.3 Investments in associates - continued

15.3.2 Summarised financial information for material associates - continued

Reconciliation of summarised financial information

Reconciliation of the summarised information presented to the carrying amount of its interest in the
associate:

Medina Tower [.5.C
2023 2022
€000 €000

Opening net assets 24,641 24533
Loss fot the year ()] (213)
Other comprehensive income {656) 32
Closing net assets 23,886 24.641
Interest in associate (37.50%)* 8,957 9,241
Carrying value 8,957 9,241

*The Group’s interest in Medina Tower J.8.C. as reflected in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements, is made up of a 25.00% shareholding held by IHI p.Lc. and ancther 25.00% shateholding
held by Mediterranean Investment Holdings pd.c. (MIH p.lc). Whereas the Group’s interest in IHI
p.le. is 57.80%, its interest in MIH p.l.c. is 50.00% (accounted for using the equity method).

The Group’s ultimate percentage ownership in Medina Tower J.5.C. is 27.00%.

Mediterranean Invesunents
Holdings p.l.c. Group

2023 2022

€000 €000

Non-current assets 290,582 291,080
Current assets ' 18,510 14,890
Total assets 309,092 305,970
Non-current Liabilides 86,239 70,758
Current liabilities 16,945 35,738
Total liabilities 103,184 106,496
Revenue 27,441 24,996
Profit for the year 12,573 10,751
Other comprehensive income (139) 73
Total comprehensive income 12,434 10,824
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15.

Investments in associates and joint ventures - contdnued
15.3 Investments in associates - continued
15,3.2 Summatised financial information for material associates - continued

Reconciliation of the summarised information presented to the cartying amount of its intetest in the
associate:

Meditetranean Investments
Holdings p.l.<. Group

2023 2022

€000 €000
Opening net assets 199,474 188,650
Profit for the year 12,573 10,751
Other comprehensive income (139} 73
Dividend {6,000) -
Closing net assets 205,908 199,474
Interest in associate (50.00%) 102,954 99,737
Carrying value 102,954 99,737

Included in the above financial information is 25.00% share of the financial informaton attributable
10 Medina Towet ].5.C,

15.3.3 Summarised financial information of assocjate companies that are not individually
material

2023 2022
€000 €000
Profit for the year 98 3
Other comprehensive income 266 230
Total comprehensive income 364 233
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Investments in associates and joint ventures - continued

15.4 Investments in joint ventures

15.4.1 Equity in joint ventures

Set out below are the joint ventures of the Group as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022,

The joint ventures listed below have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held
by the Group through IHI p.lLc.

Company name Registered office Nature of business % of ownership
interest held by
the Group
2023 2022
Quality Catering & Retail Miller House Cateting company 50 50
Services Lid Airport Way
Tarxien Road
Luga
Malta

All joint ventures are private companies and there is no quoted market price available for their shares.

There are no contingent lizbilities relating to the Group’s interest in the joint ventures.
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16.

17.

Other financial assets at amostised cost

The Group The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
€000 £000 €000 €000
Non-curtent
Loans to investee 6,083 6,460 - -
Loans to subsidiaties - - 24,623 26,023
Loans to associates - 2,602 - 2,602
Othets LY, 55 - -
Total non-current loans receivable 6,120 0,117 24,623 29225
Current
Others 110 153 - -
Total current loans receivable 110 153 - -

The fair value of the othet financial assets at amortised is disclosed in Note 35.7.

Information about the impairment of financial assets at amordsed cost and the Group’s and the
Company’s exposure to credit risk, foreign currency risk and interest rate risk can be found in Note 35.

Terms
Crrrent

The Group’s loans to others amountng w €0.11 million (2022: €0.15 million) are unsecured, interest
free and are repayable within one year.

Nowu-current

The Group’s loans to investee comprising €6.08 million (2022: €6.46 million) are unsecured, bear
interest at 4% and are repayable not later than 10 June 2029,

The Group’s loans to others amounting to €0.04 millien (2022: €0.06 million) are unsecured, bear
interest at 3.00% and are repayable not later than May 2026.

The Group’s and Company’s loans o associates wete nil in 2023 (2022: €2,60 million).

The Company’s loans to subsidiaries amoundng to €24.62 million (2022: €26.62 million) are unsecured,
bear interest at 3% and are repayable not later than January 2026.

Inventories
The Group

2023 2022
€900 €000
Foed and beverages 3.697 4,170
Consumables and other 12,142 11,610
Goods held for resale 201 321
Loose tools 718 929

16,755 17,030
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18. ‘Trade and other receivables
The Group The Company
2023 2022 2623 2022
€000 €000 €000 €000
Non-Cutrent
Other receivables 235 962 - -
Contract assets 452 577 - -
Total receivables - non-current 687 1,539 - -
Cuttent
Trade receivables 31,871 29,506 - -
Credit loss allowances (5,575) (4,982) - -
26,296 24,524 - -
Amounts owed by:
- Subsidiary companies - - 9,225 8,810
- Associate companies 1,465 2,588 443 1,613
- Joint ventures 202 20N - -
- Related parties 2,500 2,583 - -
Other receivables 6,979 5,799 298 207
Financial assets 37,442 35,695 9,966 10,630
Prepayments 4,382 4,839 83 47
Contract assets/accrued income 3,218 2,255 13 29
Total trade and other receivables - current 45,042 42,789 10,062 10,706
Total ttade and othet receivables 45,729 44,328 10,062 10,706

Amounts owed by related parties are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

The carrying values of crade and other receivables are considered to be a reasonable approximation of
fair value,

Informadon about the credit losses atuibucable to trade receivables and the Group’s and the
Company’s exposure to credit risk, foreign currency risk and interest rate risk can be found in Note 35,

The Group’s contract assets classified as non-current asset relate to key monies and are assessed for
impairment at each reporting date in line with IAS 36.

The Group’s contract assets which are classified as current asser primarily comprise balances from
services in relation to project management for which the Group would not yet have an unconditional
right to receive payment. These contract assets are subject to IFRS 9 expected credit losses model as
disclosed in Note 35.
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18.  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Classification of financial assets at fair value theo rofit or |
The Group classifies the following financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL):
#  Debt investments that do not qualify for measurement at either amortised cost or FVOCI, As
at 31 December 2023 and 2022, these include investments in funds and mutual funds whose

instruments fail o meet the definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective.

e Equity investments for which the Group has not elected to recognise fair value gains and losses

through OCIL.
The Group The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
€000 €000 €000 £000
Non-current assets
Unlisted equity securities 3,411 5,373 - -
Curtent assets
I ivzed secnvivies:
Bond securides 386 505 1,479 2,289
Exquity securities - 707 - 707
Mutual funds - 2,305 - 1,286
Total 386 3,607 1,479 4,282

In 2020, the holding in Azure Resorts Group has been reclassified from investment accounted for
using the equity methed to financial assets at fair value through profit ot loss in view that this was put
into liquidation on 27 April 2020, At the reporting date, the carrying amount of the investrnent held in
Azure Resorts was nil (2022: €1.96 million),

During the year, the Group recognised a net fair value loss of €1.54 million (2022: €3.64 million), whilst
the Company recognised a fair value gain of £€0.25 million (2022: loss of €0.71 million), in profit or loss
on financial assets at fair value through profir or loss. In 2023, the fair value loss includes an amount
of €1,96 million (2022: €1.53 million) relaring to 4 fair value loss on the Group’s investment in Azure
Resorts Group and a gain of €0.42 million (2022: loss of €2.12 million) relating to fait value movement
on listed securities.
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - continued

Ser out below are the unlisted equity securities held by the Group:

Company name Registered office Nature of business % of ownership
interest held by
the Group
2023 2022
Azure Resorts Limited  Level 1, Palm Grove House  Vacation ownership 29 29
{in liquidation) Wickham’s Cay 1 selling agent
Read Town, Tortala
Brtish Virgin Islands
Aczure Services Limited  Level 1, LM Complex Marketing and 29 29
{in liquidation) Brewery Street promotonal services
Mriehel, Maita
Azure Ultra Limited (in  Level 1, LM Complex Luxury yacht leasing 29 29
liquidaton) Brewery Street
Mrichel, Malta
Azure XP Limited (in ~ Level 1, Palm Grove House  Financing of vacation 29 29
liquidation) Wickham’s Cay 1 ownership
Road Town, Tortola
British Virgin Islands
Brooksfield Overseas Level 1, Palm Grove House ~ Marketing and 29 25
Limited (in liquidaton)  Wickham’s Cay 1 prometional services
Road Town, Tortola
British Virgin Islands
Heathfield Overseas Level 1, Palm Grove House ~ Payment solutions 29 29

Limited (in liquidation) ~ Wickham’s Cay 1
Road Town, Tottola
British Virgin Islands

The Group’s unlisted equity securities also include 13.10% holdings in Glebal Hotel Alliance and
10.00% holdings in Lizar Holdings Lirnited, a hotel and residendal development in Moscow.

Information on the fair value hierarchy and valuadon techniques used by management as well as a
reconciliation of the unlisted equity securities are disclosed in Note 35,
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20.

21,

22

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include the following components:

Cash and bank balances:
Current

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of
financial position
Bank overdrafts (Ncte 25)

Cash and cash equivalents

The Group The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
€000 €000 €000 €000

101,398 77,657 9,448 6,261
101,398 77,657 9,448 6,261
(8,755)  (11,028) - .
92,643 66,629 9,448 6,261

The Group’s bank balances include amounts of €6.34 million (2022: €10.49 million) set aside for debt
setvicing requirements and treasury bills amounting to €29.41 million (2022: nil} sec aside fot bond
redemption purposes. At 31 December 2023, no funds were set aside for capital expenditure putposes

(2022: nil).

Assets classified as held for sale

Investment propetty

Total assets held for sale

The Group
2023 2022
€000 €000
62 102
62 102

The Group’s assets held for sale, represent a 3-star hotel property located in Bodiun, Turkey with a
stock of 72 beds. Since this property does not have the level of luxury of the other hotels operated by
the Group, it has been put on the marker and it is expected that it will be sold within the next 12

months.

Share capital

Authorised, issued and fully paid
20,000,000 ordinaty shates at €1 each

221 Sharcholder rights

The Group and the Company

2023 2022
€000 €000
20,000 20,000

Shareholders are endtled to vote at shareholders” meetings of the Company on the basis of one vore
for each share held. They are entitled to receive divideads as declared from time to time. The shares
in issue shall, at all times, rank pars pacsr with respect to any distrbution whether of dividends or capital,

in 2 winding up or otherwise.
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23.

Other reserves

The balance on other reserves, which is not available for distribution, represents profits not realised at
the end of the reporiing period including those arising from forelgn exchange translatons and

revaluations of property, net of ax.

The Group

At 1January 2023
Recognised in other comprehensive
income:
Net revaluation of properties
Exchange difference arising from
translating foreign operations:
- on net assets, excluding deferred rax
Share of other comprehensive income of
associares and joint venrures:
- Exchange difference atising from
translating foreign operations
- Revaluation of properties
Other
Recopnised ditectly in equity:
Reclassificadons to retained earnings

At 31 December 2023

Translation Revaluation Other equity

reserves reserve components ‘T'atal
€000 €000 €000 €000
17,089 108,672 0,916 135,677

- 18,850 - 18,850
(11,240) - - (11,240)
(209) - - (209

- 266 - 266

- R 26 26

- (1,213 - (1,213)

5,640 126,575 9,942 142,157
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Orther reserves — continued

The Group Translation Revaluation Other equity
ICSCIVES reserve componenis Total
€000 €000 €000 €000
At 1 January 2022 25,992 110,619 9,916 146,527
Net revaluation of properties - {1,025 - (1,025
Exchange difference arising from
translating foreign operations:
on net assets, excluding deferred tax (9,163) - - {5,163
- Share of other comprehensive income
of assoclates and joint ventures:
Exchange differsnce arising from translating
foreign operadons 107 - - 107
- Revaluadon of properties - 230 - 230
- Reclassificadon of currency transladon
reserve to profit and loss 153 - - 153
-« Other -
Recognised directly in equity:
Reclassifications to retained earnings - (1,152} - {1,152}
At 31 December 2022 17,089 108,672 9,916 135,677

The Company
‘Translation reserves

2023 2022
€000 £000
At 1 Januaty and 31 December 2,950 2,950

Retained earnings

The result for the year has been transferred to retained earnings as set cut in the statements of changes
in equiry.
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25,

Bank betrowings
The Group The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
€000 €000 €000 €000
Bank overdrafis 8,755 11,028 - -
Bank loans 377,603 340,576 801 2,002
386,358 351,604 801 2,092
Comprising:
Non-curtent bank borrowings
Bank loans due within 2 — 5 years 326,526 290,217 207 800
Bank loans due later than 5 years 18,480 1,602 - -
345,006 291,819 207 800
Current bank bortowings
Bank overdrafts 8,755 11,028 - -
Bank loans due within 1 year 32,597 48,757 594 1,292
41,352 59,785 594 1,292

Bank borrowings are subject to variable interest rates based on Euribor ot othet such bank base rates
plus margins with a total weighted average interest rate of 6.28% per annum at 31 December 2023
(2022: 3.66% per annum).

These facilities are secured by general and special hypothecs on the Group’s assets, privileges on certain
asscts and guarantees given by related parties, as well as pledges over the shares in subsidizries and joint
ventures,

The carrying amount of bank borrowings is considered a reasonable approximaton of fair value based
on discounted cash flows, taking cognisance of the variable interest nature of the borrowings.
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26.

Bonds

26.1 Bonds in issue

Redeemable bonds
Bond 12
Bond 13
Bond 15
Bond 16
Bond 17
Bond 18
Bond 19
Bond 20

Non-¢urtent
Current

{i) The Group has the following bonds in issue:

Redeewmable Bonde
Bond 13
Bond 15
Bond 16
Bond 17
Bond 18
Bond 19
Bond 20

Issuing

company

THI p.lec.
IHI p.l.c.
CPHCL Finance p..c.
IHI plc.
THI p.Le.
IHI p.lc.
IHI p.lc

Year of
issue

2015
2014
2016
2016
2016
2021
2023

The Group

2023 2022

€000 €000

- 9,985

44,830 44712

10,362 34,896

39,817 39,738

54,763 54,677

59,652 59,546

78,210 77,537

59,220 -

346,854 321,091

336,492 311,106

10,362 9,985

346,854 321,091

Nominal Rate of
amounts interest Maturity date
€000 %

43,000 575 13 May 2025
10,392  6.00 15 May 2024
40,000 425 12 April 2026
55,000  4.00 29 July 2026

60,000 4.00 20 December 2026
80,000 3.65 7 December 2031
60,000 6.00 14 November 2033
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26.

Bonds - continned
26.1 Bonds in issue - continued

In 2023, IHI p.l.c. redeemed Bond 12 amounting te €10 milkon and part of Bond 15 and issued Bond
20 for a total amount of €60 million.

(ii) Interest

Interest is payable anmually in arrears on the due date,

(iii) Security

The bonds constitute the general, direct, unconditional, unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of
the issuing companies and will rank pari passs, without any priority or preference, with all other present
and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the issuing companies. The only exception is
Bond 17 for €55.00 million which is secured by the Hotel property owned by THI Hungary.

(iv) Sinking funds

The required contributions to the sinking funds as deposited under a crust arrangement as at 31
December 2023 amounted to €0.08 million (2022: €0.08 million).

(v) The carrying amount of the bonds is as follows:

€000
At 1January 2023 321,09
Redemptions (34,608}
Allocation to new bond 30,498
Proceeds from issue 30,102
Issue costs (780}
Amortisation of issue costs 551
Ar 31 December 2023 346,854
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Bonds - continued
26.1 Bonds in issue - contnued

The marker price of bonds in issue as at year end is as follows:

2023 2022
£ €
Bond 12 - 100.00
Bond 13 100.50 102.00
Bond 15 100.00 101,50
Bond 16 99.80 100,00
Bond 17 100.00 99.00
Bond 18 97.50 99.50
Bond 19 91.30 90.00
Bond 20 103.97 -
The fair value of the bonds at year end is disclosed in Note 35.7.
26.2 Investments held by trustees
Investments held by tustees comprise the following:
The Group 2023 2022
€000 €000
Cash at bank:
- Interest-bearing bank accounts 77 77
77 77
Other financial liabilities
The Group The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
€000 €000 €300 €000
Shareholders’ loans 34,685 33,485 34,685 33,485
Leans from subsidiaries - - 70,818 70,122
Othets n 205 - -
34,776 33,600 105,503 103,607
Nen-current 34,685 33,577 105,503 103,332
Current 91 113 - 275
34,776 33,690 105,503 103,607

‘The movements in the shatcholders” loans represent the interest incurred thereon.

The loans from subsidiaties increased by €0.70 million (2022: €0.13 million). This movement represents
net payments of €0.79 million te Thermal Hotel Aquincum Rt offset by capitalised interest amounting
to €1.49 million.
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27. Other financial liabilities - continued

As at 31 December 2023

€000 Interest Rate Repayable
The Group
34,685 4.00% After more than 1 year
N 8.70% Within 1 year
34,776
The Company
40,000 4.45% 12 April 2026
11,523 1.95% over 3-month Eurbor After more than 1 year
251 4.60% After more than 1 year
19,044 2.25% over 3-month Euribor After more than 1 year
34,685 4.00% After more than 1 year
105,503

As at 31 December 2022

€000 Incerest Rate Repayable
The Group
33,485 4.00% After more than 1 year
113 8.70% Within 1 vear
92 8.70% After more than 1 vear
33,690
The Company
275 5.00% Within 1 year
40000 4.38% 12 April 2026
10,951  1.95% over 3-month Euribor After more than 1 year
242 4.60% After more than 1 year
18,654 2.25% over 3-month Euribor After more than 1 year
33485 4.00% After more than 1 year
103,607

None of the loans are secured.

The carrying amount of the borrowings subject to a variable interest rate is considered a reasonable
approximation of fair value on the basis of discounted cash flows. In the case of borrowing subject to
a fixed rate of interest, the fair value is disclesed in Note 35.7.
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28.

29,

Indemnification Liabilities

The Company
2023 2022
€000 €000
At 1 January and 31 December 17,168 17,168

In view of group tax relief provisions applicable in Malta any tax due by CPHCL on the wransfer of the
shares in IHI Towers s.t.0. (IHIT) and Corinthia Towers Tripoli Limited {CTTL) to International Hotel
Investments p.l.c. IHI p.lc) effected in 2007 was defetred. This tax will only become due in the
eventuality that IHI plc. sells the shares in IHIT and/or CTTL and/or their underlying properties
outside the Group. In accordance with the indemnnity agreement prepared at the ime of the acquisidon,
CPHCL has indemnified THI p.l.c. for future tax the latter may incur should THI p.Le. sell the shares or
the underlying properties outside the Group. This indemnity will be equivalent to the tax that will be
due by IHI p.l.c. on the gain that was untaxed in the hands of CPHCL. The indemnity has no time limit
and has a maximum value of £€45.00 million, In 2021, a reducton of €6.23 million in the indemnificaton
liability held in the records of the Company was recognised to reflect a reduced rate of tax that would
be applicable in the eventuality of a sale of this property.

As outlined alove the indemnity agreement provides that in the event of a sale of the shares in IHIT
and/or CTTL and/ot their underlying propertes outside the Group, CPHCL will be liable for the tax
that will be due on the gain that was exempt in the hands of CPHCL at the dme of the sale. Sinee it is
certain that reimbursements will be paid by CPHCL if IHI plc setdes the obligation, the

reimbursements have been recognised and treated as separate liabilities.

On the sale of its shares in QPM Limited effected during the year ended 31 December 2016, CPHCL
provided a tax indemnity to IHI p.l.c. The sales contract was exempe from taxation on the basis that
CPHCL and IHI p.l.c. form patt of the same ultimare group for tax purposes. Should ITHI p.l.c. dispose
of the shares cutside of the Group, it may become liable to tax that it would not have become lizble to
pay had CPHCL not been a related party. The indemnity was esdmaced (o amouni to £€2.00 millien and
has been recognised as an indemnification liability representing the tax that will be due by IHI p.lc. on
the gain that was untaxed in the hands of CPHCL.

Deferred tax assets and Liabilities
Deferred raxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method and are measured

at che tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liahility is setded
based on tax rates {and tax laws) that have been substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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29, Deferred tax assets and liabilities - continued

The balance at 31 December represents temporaty differences attributable vo:

The Group Assets Liabilities Net

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000

Depreciation of property,

plant and equipment - - (35,191) (38,144) (35,191) (38,144)

Fair valuation of land and

buildings - - (92,051) (77,819 (92,051) (77,819)
Fair valuaton of itvestment

propetty - - (14,083) (133610 (14,083) (13361)
Intangible assets - - (1,536) (404} (1,536) (404)
Investments in associates 101 101 - - 161 101
Unrelieved tax losses and

unabsorbed capital

allowances 58,972 62,776 - - 58,972 62,776
Exchange differences 389 235 - . 389 235
Provision on trade receivables 898 856 - - 893 856
Orthers 504 455 - - 504 455
Deletred tax asscis/ (liabilitics)

— betore offserting 60,864 64,423 (142,861) (129,728) (81,997) (65,305)
Offset in the statement of

financial position (23,098 (28,257 23,098 28,257 - -
Deferred rax assets/ (liabilites)
— as presented in statement of

financial position 37,766 36,166 (119,763) (101,471) (81,997) (65,305)
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29. Deferred tax assets and liabilities - continued

The Company Assets Liabilities Net
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
€000 €000 €000 €030 €000 €000

Unrelieved rax losses and
unabsorbed capital allowances 3,555 3,555 - - 3,555 3,555

Deferred tax assets — before
offsetting 3,555 3,555 - - 3,555 3,555

Deferred tax assets — as
presented in statement of

financial position 3,585 3,555 - - 3,555 3,555

The recognised deferred tax assets and liabilites are expected to be recovered or sertled principally after
more than twelve months from the end of the reporting period. :

The movement on the Group’s deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year, without taking into
consideration offsetting of balances, is as follows:

The Group
Recognised
Recognised inother  Cuzrency
Balance in profit comprehensive  translation Balance
1.1.2023 ot loss income  differences 31.12.2023
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000
Property, plant and
equipment (115,963) 608 (15,309) 3422 (127,242)
Investment property (13,301} {1,571) - 849 (14,083}
Intangible assets (404) (1,127 - (3) {1,536)
Investments in assoctates 101 - - - 101
Unrelieved tax losses and
capiral allowances 62,776 (3,542) 3,707 (3,969) 58,972
Exchange differences 235 160 26 (32) 389
Provision on trade receivables 856 42 - - 808
Others 455 126 (6) {71} 504
(65,305) (5,304) (11,582) 194 (81,997)
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29, Deferted tax assets and liabilities - continued

The Group
Recognised
Recognised in other Currency
Balance inprofit  comptehensive translation Balance
1.1.2022 or loss income differences 31.12.2022
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000
Property, plant and
equipment {116,007 (209 1,729 {1,386} (115,963}
Investment property {14,073) 1,391 - {677) (13,361)
Intangible assets 586 {991) - 1 {404}
Investments in
associates 1t - - - 101
Unrelieved tax losses
and capital
allowances 62,509 {(G85) (637} 1,589 62,776
Exchange differences {446) 690 - o 235
Provision on trade
receivables 790 (1] - - 856
Others 470 3} )] G 455
{66,072) 169 1,087 (489) (65,305)

The movement on the Company’s deferred tax assers and liabilities during the year, without taking into
consideration offsetting of balances, is as follows:

The Company
Recognised
Balance in profit Other Balance
1.1.2023 orloss  movements 31122023
€000 €000 €000 £000
Unrelieved tax losses and unabsorbed
capital allowances 3,555 - - 3,555
3,555 - - 3,555
The Company
Recognised
Balance in profit Other Balance
1.1.2022 ot logs  movements 31.12.2022
€000 £000 €000 €000
Unrelieved tax losses and unabsorbed
capital allowances 3,555 - - 3,555
3,555 - - 3,555
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29,

3.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities - continued

Unrecognised deferred tax assets

Deferred income taxes are recognised for tax loss carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the
related rax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. The Company did not recognise deferred
income tax assets of €14.65 million (2022: €14.4C millien) in respect of losses amountng to €58.60
million (2022: €57.61 million) that can be carried forward against future taxable income.

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets of €37.61 million (2022: €28.77 million) in
respect of losses amoundng to €142.85 million (2022: €101.19 million) that can be carried forward

against future taxable income.

Trade and other payables

Non-current
Othet payables

Refundable lease deposits
Financial liabilities
Conturact liabilides
Statutory liabilifies

Total payables - non-current

Current

Trade payables

Amounts owed to:
Subsidiary companies
Associate companies

Other related parties

Capital creditors

Onher payables

Refundahle lease deposits

Accrued expenses

Financial liabilities

Coneact liabilities
Advance payments
Statutory liabilites

Total payables - current

The Group The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
€000 €000 €000 €000
3,106 2,131 - -
2:m 263 - -
3,307 2,394 - -
997 2,053 - -
5,817 7,476 436 564
10,121 11,923 436 564
25,191 21,251 80 99
- - 8,081 9,872
933 1,100 - -
6,892 6,755 - -
2,427 2,337 - -
12,356 10,577 92 98
595 564 - -
34,963 32,484 1,475 1,450
83,357 75,068 9,728 11,519
5,900 4,014 - -
1,082 1,915 - -
9,239 11,705 180 167
99,578 92,702 9,908 11,686

Amounts owed to related parties are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand. The carrying
amount of trade and other payables is considered a reasonable approximaton of fair value.
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30.

Trade and other payables - continued

Current contract liabilities mainly inchude advance deposits on hotel bockings and cash received for
vouchers to be redeemed by customers in hotels. The revenue in relation to these amounts received in
advance is recognised only when the Group satisfies its performance obligation (i.e. as the customer
utilises their right to use the hotel roomy).

Noa-cutrent contract liabilities emanate from a transaction in which the Group sold a block of serviced
apartments but retained the obligation to maintain such apartmemts for the very long-term. The
consideration that was paid by the buyer to the Group was partly allocated to the service element in the
arrangement and will be recognised over the remaining number of years for which the obligation
remains,

The aggregate transaction price allocated to this long-term arrangement amounted to £2.30 million,
equivalent to €2.70 million (2022: £2.30 million, €2.60 million), of which £1.80 million, equivalent to
€2.0 million {2022: £1.80 million, equivalent to €2.10 million), remains unsatsfied as at year-end.

Management expects that the unsatisiied porton of the transaction price will be recognised as revenue
on a straight-line basis over the remaining term of 40 years, since the directors consider the arrangement
consistent with a stand-ready abligation to perform.

Revenue recognised during 2023 that was included in the conttace liability balance at the beginning of
the period amounted to €0.80 million (2022: €3.20 million).
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Cash flow information
311 Adjustments
The Group The Company

2023 2022 2023 2022
€000 €000 €000 €000

Amortisadon of intangible assets 613 633 - -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 26,806 28,058 8 6
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 2,673 2,943 17 3
Other losses arising on property, plant and equipment 1,680 100 - -
COVID-19 related lease concession adjustments - (14) - -
Other gains/losses 40 {80 -

Impairment losses on investments - - 4,475 1,526
Impairment gain/(loss) on property, plant and equipment  (275) 1,207 -

Finance lease concessions - - (21) -
Fair value movements on investment propetties (6,423) 6,620 - -
Share of results of associates and joint venrures (6,360) (5,317} - -
Movement in indemnification liabilides - - - -
Net gain on sale of investment in subsidiary and associate - - . -
Fait value movement on financial assets at FVTPL 1,541 3,040 (245) 714
Change in credit loss allowances 611 40y - -
Net loss on disposal of property, plane and equipment 22 65 - -
Amortisation of transaction costs 1,026 842 80 80
Interest income (1,251) (563  (1,091) (830}
Interest expense 41,485 31,043 5117 4,094
Dividend income - - (543D (6,518
Reclassification of currency translation reserve to profit

and loss - 264 - -
Net exchange differences 3,518 (16,008 5 M

65,706 53,393 2,904 (°24)

Significant non-cash transactions

The Group’s significant non-cash transactions for 2023 amounted to €30.50 million (2022: nil). These
represented the portion of bonds that were redeemed through the te-issuc of new bonds. The
Company’s significant non-cash transactions are €2.00 million (2022: €0.35 million). These represent
an offser against loans receivable,
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31.

Cash flow information - continued

31.2 Reconciliation of financing assets and liabilities

The Group Assets Liabilities from financing activities
Assets placed
under trust Bank Other Lease
areangement Bonds loans borrowings liabilities Total
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000
As at 1 January 2022
- Principal 77 (320,555) (388,658 (32,887 (16,469  (7538,492)
- Accrued interest - (5,731) {6,839 - - 12,570
77 (326,286) {395,497y (32,887 (16,469 (771,062
Net Cash flow movements - 14 488 52,754 330 3,480 71,054
Acquisition of subsidiaries - - G280 - - 9,280
Foreign exchange differences - - - -
Currency translation
differences - - {755) - - {755)
Other movements including
interest - (14785 9,421) (1,133) (4249  (29,588)
As at 31 December 2022 TT  (326,583) (343,643) (33,690)  (17,232)  (721,071)
Comprising:
- Principal 77 O(321,091)  (340,576) (33,690) 17,232) (712,512
- Accrued interest - {5,492 (3,067) - - (8,55
As at 3] December 2022 77 (326,583) (343,643) 33,690y (17,232) (721,071)
Asat 1 January 2023
- Principal 77 (321,091)  (340,576) {33,690 (17,232)  {712,513)
- Acerved interest - {5,492 (3,067) - - {8,559)
77 (326,583)  (343,643) {33,690 17,232y (721.071)
Net Cash flow movements - {10,516} (12,608) 2,511 3372 {22,263)
Foreign exchange differences - - (3,184) - - {3,184)
Other movements including
interest - (14,493 {20,654) 1,425 6,972 {40,694)
As at 31 December 2023 77 (351,592) (380,089 {34,776)  (20,832) (787,.212)
Comprising:
- Principal 77 (346,854 (377,603 (34,776) (20,832)  (779,988)
- Accrued interest - (4,738) {2,486} - - {7,224)
As at 31 December 2023 77 (351,592)  (380,08%) (34,776)  (20,832) (787,212)
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Cash flow information - condoued

31.2 Reconciliation of financing assets and liabilities - condnued

The Company Liabilities from financing activities
Other
Bank loans borrowings Total
€000 €000 €000
As at 1 January 2022
- Principal (3,555) (102,579) (106,134)
- Accrued interest (20) (1,284) (1,304)
(3,575} (103,863) (107,438)
Net cash flow movements 1,562 2,087 3,649
Set-offs - 215 215
Other movements including interest {98} (3,391} (3,489)
As At 31 December 2022 (2,111) (104,952) (107,063)
Comprising:
- Principal (2,092 {103,607} (105,699)
- Accrued interest {19 (1,345) (1,364)
As At 31 December 2022 2,111) {104,952) (107,063)

As ar 1 January 2023

- Principal (2,092) (103,607) (103,699
- Accrued interest {19 {1,345) {1,364}
{2,111) (104,952) {107,0063)
Net cash flow movements 1,347 1,792 3,139
Set-offs - - -
Other movements including interest 37 (3,657 {3,604
As at 31 December 2023 (801) (106,817) (107,618}
Comprising:
- Principal {801) (105,503) (104,304
- Accrued intetest - (1,314 (1,314
As at 31 December 2023 (801) (106,817) (107,618)
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32.

33.

Commitments

Capital expenditure commirments at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

The Group The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
€000 €000 €000 €000
Contracted for:
Property, plant and equipment 90,425 90,549 - -
Authorised but not yet contracted for:
Property, plant and equipment 18,688 29,338 - -
109,113 119,887 - -

Contingencies

A claim in relation to brokerage fees on the sale of Lisbon Hotel to THI p.lc. in 2000 amoundng to
€1.70 million is being made by an individual against 8 defendants including IHI p.l.c. No provision has
been made in these financial statements for this claim as the Company and the Group believe that they
have a strong defence in respect of these claims.

A client has insdruted proceedings against a subsidiary of THI p.lc. for damages sustained in relation to
professional works. The Directors do not expect the cash outflow net of insurance recoveries to be

rmatetizal,

Additionally, the Group and the Company have the following puarantees:

The Group 2023 2022
€000 €000

Guarantees given to secure bank facilities of associate companies 264 313
Guarantees given to secure bonds of associate company (MIH p.lc.} 50,000 50,000
50,266 50,313

The Company 2023 2022
€000 €000

Guarantees given to secure bonds 90,000 $0,000
Guarantees given to secure bank facilides for related companies 13,807 15,008
103,807 105,008
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Related parties

All companies controlled, jointly controlled or significandy influenced by CPHCL are considered to be
related parties. A list of these companies is included in Notes 14 and 15. Related partes also comprise
the shareholders of CPHCL together with the Group companies” key management personnel.

Key management personnel include directors {executive and non-executive) and senior management
members of both the Company and of all the group entides located in Malta and in various other
countries. The'compensation paid or payable to key management personnel for employee services is

disclosed in Note 36.1.

None of the transactions with related parties incorporate special terms and conditions. Transactdons
with related companies are generally affected on a costplus basis or on the basis of pre-agreed
arrangements. Outstanding balances are vsually settled in cash. Amounts owed by/to related parties are
shown separately in Notes 14, 15, 16, 18, 27 and 30.

The Groupy The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
€000 €000 €000 €000
Revenue
Services rendered to:
Associates 754 700 816 803
Related companies 75 193 634 532
829 893 1,450 1,335
Financing
Interest income
- Subsidiaries 919 600
- Associates 77 143 77 135
Interest expense
- Subsidiaries - - (3,688) (2,586)
- Sharcholders’ loan (1,336) {1,257} {1,336) (1,297)
(1,259) {1,154) (4,028) (3,148)
Dividend income from subsidiaries - - 847 6,503
Dividend income from associates - - 4,580 -
Management fee - - (550) (550}

34.1 Transactions with key management personnel

In addidon to the trernuneraton paid to the Ditectots included in Note 6.2, in the course of its
operations, the Group has a number of arrangements in place with its officets, executives and othet
related pardes whereby concessions are made available for hospitality services rendered to them
according to accepred industty norms,

In 2023, the total temuneradon of the executive directors and the senior management members of both
the Company and of all the group ensties located in Malta and in various other countries amounted o

£€9.6 million (2022: €9.12 million}.
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35.

Risk management objectives and policies

The Group is exposed to various risks through its use of financial instrumenes. The main types of risks
are matket risk, credit risk and lquidity risk, which result from both its operating and investing activites.
The Group’s risk management is coordinated ar its head office, in close co-opetation with the boatd of
directors and focuses on actively securing the Group’s short to medium term cash flows by minimising
the exposure to financial markets. Long-term financial investments are managed to generate lasting
returns.

The board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk
management framework,

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the
Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk
management policies and systems are reviewed regulatly to reflect changes in market conditions and the
Group’s activides. The Group, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims
to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their
toles and obligations.

The audit committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk
management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in
relation to the tisks faced by the Group. The audit committee is assisted in its oversight role by internal
audit. Internal audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and
procedures, the results of which are tepotted w the audit committee.

The most significant financial risks to which the Group is exposed to are described below. See also
Note 35.5 for a summary of the Group’s financial assets and lizbilides by category.

351 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from the Group’s receivables
from related parties, customers, investment in debt instruments and cash at bank. The Group’s
exposure to credit risk is measured by reference to the carrying amount of financial assets recognised
at the statement of financial positdon date, as summarised below:
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35.

Risk management objectives and policies - continued

35.1 Credit risk - continued

The Group The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
€000 €000 €000 €000
Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss
Invesements in debt instruments 386 2,900 1,479 3,575
Financial assets at amortised cost
Trade and other receivables (including contract 46,922 44,471 10,525 11,206
assets)
Long terin receivables from related parties and 6,230 9,270 24,623 29 225
other investees
Cash in hand and at bank 101,398 77,657 9,448 6,261
Assets held by trustee placed under trust
arrangement T 77 - -
Gross exposute 155,013 134,375 46,075 50,267
Credit loss allowances (5,575) (4,982) (546) (547)
Net exposute 149,438 129,393 45,529 49,720

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in respect of financial assets
mentoned above is equivalent to their gross cartying amount as disclosed in the respective notes to the
financial statements. The Group does not hold any significant collateral in this respect.

Risk management and security

The subsidiary companies within the Group have, over the years, conducted business with various
corporates, tour operators and individuals located in different jurisdictions and, owing ro the spread of
the Group’s debtor base, there is no concentration of credit risk, ’

The Group has a credit policy in place under which new customers are analysed individually for
creditworthiness before the Group’s standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered.
The Group’s review includes external ratings, where available, and in some cases bank references,
Customers that fail to meet the Group’s benchmark creditworthiness may transact with the Group only
on a cash basis.

In menitoring customer credit risk, customers are individually assessed. Customers thae are graded as
“high risk™ are placed on a restricted customer list and future sales are only made on a prepayment
basis.

The Group does not requite collaieral in respect of wade and other receivables, The Group establishes
an allowance for credit losses that represents its estimate of losses in respect of rade and other
receivables,
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Risk management objectives and policies - continued
35.1 Credit risk - conunued

The Company has a concentradon of credit risk on its exposures to loans receivables from the
subsidiaties. The Company monitors intra-group credir exposures at individual entity level on a regular
basis and ensures timely performance of these assets in the context of overall Group liquidiry
management. The Company assesses the credit quality of these related partes taking into account
financial positions, performance and other factors. The Company takes cognisance of the related parry
relationship with these entities and management does not expect any significant losses from non-
performance or default beyond amounts actually provided in respect of uncollectible amounts.
Accordingly, credit dsk with respect to these receivables is expected to be limited.

Twipairment of finandial aisels

The Group and the Company have three types of financial assets that are subject to the expected credit
loss maodel:

trade receivables and centract assets relating to the provision of services;
other financial assets at amortised cost, comprising loans receivable from related pardes and,
in the case of the Company, subsidiaty undertakings;

»  financial assets at fair value through ptofit or loss; and

¢ cash held with banks and financial institutions.

Trade receivabler and contract arsets

The Goup applies the IFRS ¢ simplified approach to measuring expected credit logses which uses a
lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables and contract assets.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and contract assets have been grouped based
on shared credir risk characreristics and the days past due. The Group has concluded that the expected
loss rates for trade receivables are a reasonable approximation of the loss races for the contract assets
since they have substantally the same characteristics.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over an appropriate period before
31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 respectively and the corresponding historical credit losses
experienced within this period, The historical loss rates are adjusted o reflect current and forward-
looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the
receivables.

Based on the assessment carried out in accordance with the above methodology, the movement in
loss allowances identified as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 is deemed immaterial by
management. On this basis, the information pertaining to loss rates and loss allowances in the Group’s
provisioning matrix, which would have otherwise been recommended by IFRS 7, is not presented as
at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022,
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35.

Risk management objectives and policies - continued
35.1 Credit risk - continued
Trade receivabler and contract assets - contnued

The closing loss allowances for tade receivables and contract assets as at 31 December 2023 reconcile
tc the opening loss allowance as follows:

The Group
2023 2022
€000 €000
At 1 Januvary 4,982 4,937
Written-off balances 77 {4300
Credirt losses recognized 529 570
Credit losses reversed 5 {180
Exchange differences (18) 85
At 31 December 5,575 4,982

Trade receivables and contract assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectatdon of
recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others,
faillure to sertlement after a number of attempts being made to collect past due debits; amounts deemed
unrecoverable after a court ruling; and failure by the Group o provide original documentation in case
of invoices contested by the customer.

Credit losses on trade receivables and contract assets are recognised separately in the income
statement, Subsequent recoveries of amounts previcusly written off are credited against the same line
item.

Other financial assets af amortised cost

The Company’s other financial assets at amortised cost which are subject to IFRS 9’s general
impairment model include amounts due from subsidiaries and amounrs due from other related partes.
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35.

Risk management objectives and policies - continued
35.1 Credit risk - continued
Other financial assets at amortised cost - continued

The closing loss allowance for amounts due from subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023 reconcile to
the opening loss allowances as follows:

The Company
2023 2022
€000 €000
At 1 January 20,385 20,086
Credit losses recognised 275 326
Credir losses reversed - (27)
At 31 December 20,660 20,385

The Group’s other financial assets at amortised cost which are subject to IFRS 9’s general impairment
model primarily include amounts due from associates and investee.

The Group and the Company menitor intra-group credit exposures at individual endey level on a
regular basis and ensure timely performance of these assets in the context of its overall liquidiry
management. The loss allowances for these financial assets are based on assumpdons about risk of
defaulr and expected loss rates. The Company’s management uses judgement in making these
assumptions, based on the counterpartty’s past history, existing market conditons, as well as forward-
locking estirnates at the end of each reporiing period.

As at year-end, based on the Directors’ assessments of these factors, the equity position of the
respective counterparty, and, where the probability of defaulr is high, the recovery surategies
contemplated by management together with the support of shareholders in place, resulted in a further
increase in provision of €0.28 million (2022: €0.33 million) for the Company.

Carh af bank

The Group’s cash is placed with teputable financial insdrutions, such that management does not
expect any institution to fail to meet repayments of amounts held in the name of the companies within
the Group. While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impaitment requirements of IFRS
9, the identified impairment loss was insignificant.

Financial asseis at fair value throngh profit or loss

The Group and the Company are also ditectly and indirectly exposed to credit risk in relation to certain
bond funds that are measured at fair value through profit or loss. The maximum exposure at the end
of the reporting period amounts to €0.39 million {2022: £2.90 million) for the Group and €1.48 million
(2022: €3.58 million) for the Company.
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35.

Risk management objectives and policies - continued
35.2 Liguidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall
due. The Group'’s approach 1o managing liquidity is to ensure that it will always have sufficient
liquidity to meet its liabilides as they fall due, under both notmal and stressed conditions. Liquidity
risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash and commirted credit lines to ensure the
availability of an adequate amount of funding to meet the Group’s obligations,

The Group actvely manages its cash flow requiremenrs. Management monitors liguidity risk by
reviewing expected cash flows through cash flow forecasts, covering both Head Office corporate cash
flows and all Group endties’ cash flows. This is performed at a central treasury functon, which
controls the overall liquidity requirements of the Group within certain parameters. Each subsidiary
company within the Group updates its cash flow on a monthly basis, Typically, the Group ensures
that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operadonal expenses for a period of 60 days,
including the servicing of financing or borrowing obligations. Such planning also factors cash outflows
tequired for capital projects and where necessary ensures that adequate bank facilides are in place.
"This excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot be reasonably forecasted.

The Group’s liquidity risk is accordingly actvely managed taking cognisance of the matching of
operational cash inflows and ourflows arising from expecred marturides of financial insauments,
attributable to the Group’s different operatons, wgether with the Group’s committed bank borrowing
facilides and other financing that it can access to meet liquidity needs. The Group also reviews
periodically its presence in the local capital markets and considers actively the disposal of non-cote
assets to secure potential cash inflows constituting a buffer for lignidity management purposes.

‘The Group has funding in place for the main contracted capital projects and has access to undrawn
bank loans armountng v €49,10 million at the end of the reporting period. Furthermore, the Group
has access to unudlised bank overdrafts amounting to €9.17 million at the end of the reporting petiod.
The bank overdrafis are renewed yearly and the bank loans can be withdrawn within one year or
beyond.

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group has financial liabilities, inclnding esdmated interese
payments, with contractual maturities which ate summarised below:

The Group
Current Non-current

Within 1 year 1-5 years More than 5 years
31 December 2023 €000 €000 €000
Bank borrowings 70,360 402,726 24,169
Bonds 26,074 237,409 165,201
Orcher financial liabilides 99 5,550 36,072
Lease liabilities 4022 11,493 34,835
Ttade and other payables 83,357 3,307 -
183,912 660,485 260,277
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35.

Risk management objectives and policies - continued

35.2 Liquidiry risk - continued

This compares to the maturity of the Group’s financial liabilities including estimated interest payments

in the previous reporting period as follows:

The Group
Current Non-current

Within 1 year 1-5 years More than 5 years
31 December 2022 €000 €000 €000
Bank borrowings 80,288 303,187 13,263
Bonds 24,460 209,130 88,688
Orher financial liabilities 130 5,454 34,824
Lease liabilides 2,752 7,114 34,727
Trade and other payables 75,068 2,394 -
182,698 587,279 171,502

The above contracmal mamrites reflect the gross cash flows, which may differ from the carrying

values of the liabilities at the end of the reporidng peried.

At 31 December 2023, the Company has financial liabilities, including estimarted interest payments,

with conrractual maturities which are summasised below:

The Company
Current Non-current

Within 1 yeat 1-5 years More than 5 years
31 December 2023 £'000 €000 €000
Bank borrowings 010 219 -
Other financial liabilities 3488 54,664 66,891
Lease liahilides 124 44 -
Trade and other payables 9,728 - -
13,950 54,927 66,89

This compares to the matutity of the Company’s financial liabilides in the previous reporting period

as follows:
The Company
Current Non-current
Within 1 year 1-5 years More than 5 years
31 December 2022 €000 €000 €000
Bank borrowings 1,347 827 -
Ovthet financial liabilides 3,704 57,795 64,671
Lease liabilities 60 7 -
Trade and other payables 11,519 - -
16,630 58,629 64,671
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Risk management objectives and policies - condnued
35.3 Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, intetest tates and
securities and index prices, will affect the Group's income or financial position. The ebjective of the
Group’s market risk management is to manage and control marker risk exposures within acceprable
parameters, while optimising the return on risk.

(i) Foreign currency risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposed o foreign exchange tisk arsing from varlous
currency exposures, primarily, from its operations in Russia (RUB), United Kingdem (GBP), Hungary
(HUF), Czech Republic (CZK), Tunisia (TND) and Libya (LYD). Foreign exchange risk arises from
furure commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabiliies which ate denominated in a
cursency that is not the respective entity’s functional currency, which would be considered a foreign
currency {rom the entity’s perspective.

The Group’s main currency tisk exposure reflecting the carrying amount of assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at the end of the reporting period, analysed by the funcdonal
currency of the respective entity or entities, was as follcws:
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35. Risk management objectives and policies - continued

35.3 Market risk - continued

(i) Foreign currency risk - continued

Group

Financial assets:

Loans

Trade receivables

Other reccivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Financial liabilites:
Bank borrowings
LCrade payables
Other payables

Net exposure

2023
Functional Currency
EUR HUF TND SDG
HUF LYD CZK EUR EUR UsD EUR
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000
1,181 540 1,056 84 47 529 2,084
149 157 426 - - - -
- - 1,215 470 - - -
- - - (9,199 - - -
(746) (406) {1,139 - (98} - -
(1,901) (908) (1,991) - - - -
(1,317) (617} 433 (8,645) (51) 529 2,084
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35.

Risk management objectives and policies - contdnued
35.3 Markes risk - conrinued

{i) Foreign currency risk - contnued

Group

Financial assets:
Loans
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Financial liabilities:
Bank borrowings

Trade payables
Other payables

Net exposure

2022
Functonal Currency
EUR HUF TND SDG
HUF LYD CZK EUR EUR USD ECR
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000
1,410 284 1,132 26 79 521 2,200
775 251 860 - - - -
- - 931 133 - - -
- - - (9,625) - - -
(384) {(228) (1,666) - (65} - -
(1,736) (2,572) (1,930) - . - -
65 {2,265) (673) (9,460) 14 521 2,200
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35.

Risk management objectives and policies - conanued
35.3 Market risk - continued
(i) Foreign currency risk - continued

Although the Group operates internationally most of the Group’s entities have the Euro as their functional
currency, The main exceptions are IHI Benelux BV through its hotel in St Petersburg (RUB), NLI through
its hotel in London (GBP), Thermal Hotel Aquincum through its hotel in Budapest (HUF), SPH Khamsa
through its hotel in Tunis (TNDY), and Marsa Investments through its operation in Sudan (SDG).

The Company is not significantly expesed to foreign currency risk.

The subsidiary that is most exposed to foreign currency risk is IHI Benelux which has the Russian Rouble
as its functional currency. This risk resulis from the facr that irs bank borrowings were denominated in
Euro while a portion of its revenues and costs are denominated in Euro. On 1 June 2022, the Group serded
in full the bank koan in Russia. This had the beneficial effect of removing exchange rate volatility which the
Gtoup had experenced during past years due to this facilicy. Consequently in 2022, the Group recognised
a realised pain on exchange of £12.09 million in its incorne statement,

Additionally, THI Benelox is also exposed to other financial liabilities and other payables due to Group
companies which are eliminated on consolidation. These balances amounting to €94.07 million (2022:
€97.80 million) and €27.24 million (2022: €20.10 million) respectively, are considered to be part of the
Group’s net investment in the foreign operation. Accordingly, any foreign exchange differences with respect
1o these balances, which at THI Benelux standalone level are recognised in profit or loss, were reclassified
1o other comprehensive income on consolidation,

At 31 December 2023, if the Evro had weakened/strengthened by 10.00% (2022; 10.0094) against the
Rouble with all other varisbles held constant, the Group’s equity would have been €13.48 million
lower/€13.48 million higher (2022: €13.10 million lower/€13.10 million higher) as a result of foreign
exchange losses/gains recognised in other comprehensive income on the wansladon of the Euro
denominated payables.

The Thermal Hotel Aquincum is exposed to foreign currency risk through its bank boerowings which are
denominated in Euro. As at 31 December 2023, if the EUR had weakened/strengthened by 10.00% (2022:
10.00%) against the Hungarian Forint with all other variables reraining constant, the Group’s post ax
profit for the year would have been €0.92 million lower/€0.92 million higher (2022: €1.07 million
lower/€1.07 million higher) as a result of foreign exchange losses/gains on translation of the Euro
denominated borrowings.

The Group also has a significant amount in intra-group balances between the Parent Company aad one of
its subsidiaries in Hungaty that give tise t0 currency exposure risk on the movements of the HUF. Although
the above balances are elirninated on consolidation, the effect of movements in exchange rates are still
recognised in the individual company’s and in the consclidated income statement. However, management
does not deem that a sensitivity analysis is required on these balances in view of the fact that the rates of
the HUF against the Furo is relatively stable, while their sectdlemene is at the discretion of the Company.

Apart from the above, management dees not consider the foreign exchange risk artributable to other
recognised assets and liabilities arising from transactions denominated in foreign currencies that are not the
respective entities’ functional currency to be significant. Accordingly, a sensitivity analysis for foreign
exchange risk disclosing how profit or loss and equity would have been affected by changes in foreign
exchange rates that were reasonably possible at the end of the reporting petiod is not deemed necessaty.
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35,

Risk management abjectives and policies - continued
35.3 Marker risk - continued
(i) Foreign currency risk - continued

In respect of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, the Group strives to manage
1ts net exposure within acceptable parameters by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates, when
necessary, to address short-term mismatches. Wherever possible, borrowings to fund certain operations
are denominated in currencies that match the cash flows generated by the respective aperadons of the
Group so as to provide an economic hedge.

(ii) Interest rate risk
The Gtroup is exposed to changes in market interest rates principally through bank borrowings and relared

party loans taken out at variable interest rates. The interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing
financial instruments at the reporting dates was as follows:

The Group The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
Fixed rate instruments €000 €000 €000 €000
Financial assets:
Assets placed under ttust arrangement 77 7 - -
Investments in bond securides 386 595 1,479 2,289
Loans (¢ investee 6,083 6,460 - -
Loans to subsidiaries - - 24,623 26,623
Loans to associates - 2,602 - 2,602
6,546 0,734 26,102 31,514
Financial liabilities:
Bonds (346,854  (321,091) - -
Other financial liabilities {34,776) (33,690} (74,936) (74,002)

{381,630) (354,781} (74,936) (74,002

Variable rate instruments

Financial liabilities:
Bank borrowings (386,358) (351,604} (801) {2,002)
Orther financial Habilities - - {30,567) (29,605)

(386,358)  (351,604)  (31,368)  (31.697)

The Group manages its exposure to changes in cash flows in relation to interest rates on interest-bearing
borrowings due by the parent company and its subsidiaries, by entering into financial arrangements that are
based on fixed rates on interest whenever practicable. The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
on its financial assers and liabilides bearing fixed rates of interest, but wich the exception to the invesuments
in bond securities, which are measured at fair value, all the other insmuments are measured at amortised
cost and accordingly a shift in interest rates would not have an impact on profit or loss or tora
comprehensive income. Management does not consider a reasonable shift in interest will have a significant
impact on the Group’s and Company’s equity and post-tax profic as a result of a change in the fair value of
its investments in bond securities.
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35.

Risk management objectives and policies - contdnued
35.3 Market risk - continued
(i) Interestrate risk - continued

The Group’s and the Company’s interest rate risk principally arises from bank botrowings issued at variable
rates which expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Floating interest rates on these financial
instrurnents are linked to reference tates such as Euribor or the respective banket’s base rate. Management
monitors the impact of changes in market interest rates on amouats reported in profit or loss in respect of
these instruments taking into consideration refinancing and hedging techniques.

At 31 December 2023, if interest rates had been 100 basis points (2022: 250 basis points) higher/lower
with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year for the Group would have been €4.18
million (2022: €8.57 million) lower/higher as a result of higher/lower net interest expense.

@il) Price risk

The Group’s exposure to equity secarites price risk arises from its investments in equities, funds and mutual
funds, which are classified in the statement of financial positdon as ‘Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss’. The carrying amount of these investments as at 31 December 2023 was €0.39 million (2022:
€3.61 million}, All of these investments are publicly traded.

Management does not consider that a reasonable shift in indices will have a significant impact on the
Group’s equity and post-tax profit. Accordingly, a sensieivity analysis disclosing how profit or loss and
equity would have been affected by changes in indices that were teasonably possible at the end of the
reporting petiod is not deemed necessary,

354 Capiral management policies and procedures

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are o safeguard the Company’s ability to contnue as a
going concem in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, and o
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Company may issue new shares or adjust the dividends paid to its shareholders.

The Group monitors the level of capital on the basis of the ratio of aggregated net debt to total capiral. Net
debt is calculated as total borrewings (as shown in the statement of financial pesitdon) less cash and cash
equivalents. Total capital is calculated as equiry, as shown in the respective statement of financial position,
plus net debt,
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35. Risk management objectives and policies - continued
35.4 Capital management policies and procedures - continued

The figures in respect of the Group’s equity and borrowings are reflected below:

The Group The Company

2023 2022 2023 2022

€000 €000 €000 €000

Bank loans (Note 25) 377,603 340,576 801 2092

Bonds {Note 26) 346,854 321,091 - -

Assets held under trust (Note 26.2) 77 {77 - -

Other financial liabilides (Note 27) 34,776 33,690 105,503 103,607

Lease liabilities (Note 13) 20,832 17,232 145 57
Less: cash and cash equivalents

(Note 20) (92,643) (66,629) (9,448) (6,261)

Net debt 687,345 645,883 97,001 99,495

Total equity 891,931 875,425 292,549 299,023

Total capital 1,579,276 1,521,308 389,550 398,518

Net debt ratio 43.52% 42.46% 24.90% 24.97%

The Group manages the relatdonship between equity injections and borrowings, being the consttuent
elements of capital a5 reflected above, with a view to managing the cost of capital. The level of capital, as
reflected in the consolidated statement of financial position, is maintained by reference w0 the Group’s
respective financial obligations and commitments atising from opetational requirerments. In view of the
nature of the Group’s activities and the extent of borrowings or debt, the capital level at the end of the
reporang period determined by reference to the consolidated financial statements is deemed adequate by
the directors.
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Risk management ohjectives and policies - contnued
35.5 Summary of financial assets and Habilities by category
‘The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities as recognised at the end of the reporting

pericds under review may zalso be categorised as follows, See Note 3 for explanatens about how the
category of financial instruments affects their subsequent measurement.

The Group The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022
€000 €000 €000 €000
Non-current assets
Financial assets at FYTPL
Unlisted equity securities 3,411 5,373 - -
Financial assets at amortised cost
Amounts due from related companies and other 6,120 0,117 24,623 20,225
investees
Orther receivables 235 962 - -
Current assets
Financial assets at FYTPL
Bond securities 336 595 1,479 2,289
Equity securities - 07 - 707
Mutual funds - 2,305 - 1,286
Financial assers at amortised cost
Trade receivables and other receivables 37,552 35,848 9,966 10,630
Cash and cash equivalents 101,398 77,657 9,448 6,261
Assets placed under trust arrangement 77 77 - -
Total financial assets 149,179 132,641 45,516 50,398
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35. Risk management objectives and policies - continued

35.5 Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category - contined

The Group The Company
2023 2022 2023 2022

€000 €000 €000 €000
Non-current liabilities
Orther financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost
Bank borrowings 345,006 291,819 207 800
Bonds 336,492 311,106 - -
Other financial liabilities 34,685 33,577 105,503 103,332
Lease liabilities 17,943 15,018 116 -
Trade payables and other payables 3,307 2,394 - -
Current liabilities
Other financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost
Bank borrowings 41,352 59,785 5% 1,292
Bonds 10,362 9,985 - -
Other financial liabilities | 113 - 275
Lease liabilides 2,889 2,214 29 37
Trade payables and other payables 83,357 75,068 9,728 11,519
Total liabilities 875,434 801,079 116,177 117,275

35.6 Financial instruments measured at fair value

The following table presents financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the statement of
financial position in accordance with the fair value hierarchy. This hierarchy groups financial agsets and
liabilities into three levels based on the significance of inputs used in measuring the fair velue of the financial
assets and Labilides. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

¢ Level 1: based on quoted prices {unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

¢ Level 2: based on informaton other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable
fot the asset or liability, either direcdy {i.e. as prices) or indirecty (.c. derived from prices); and

¢ Level 3: information for the asset or liability that is not based en observable market data
(unobservable inputs}.
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3s.

Risk management objectives and policies - continued
35.6 Financial instruments measured at fair value - continued

The level within which the financiat asset or Hability is classified is determined based on the lowest level of
significant input to the fair value measurement,

The key financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the statement of financial position are
grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows:

The Group
2023 2022 2023 2022
€000 €000 €000 €000
Level 1 Level 3
Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit
ot loss
Equicy securives - 707 341 5373
Mumal funds - 2,305 - -
Bond securities 336 595 - -
Total 386 3,607 3 5373

The Company's financial assets measured at fair value consist of invesrmenrs in listed securities and unlisted
equity securities as disclosed in Nete 19 and are included in the Level 1 and Level 3 fair value hierarchy
respectively.

Measurement of fair valne

The fair value of the financial assets at fair value through profit and loss which are quoted and accordingly
categorised as Level 1 instrwments was based on quoted market prices.

The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose of measuring fair value are unchanged
compared to the previcus repertng period.

Investments in unlisted equity securities, categorised as Level 3 instruments in view of their unlisted narure
commptise the acquisiticn during 2019 of minority stakes in Global Hotel Alliance and Moscow Project. In
2022, this also included the investment in Azure Resorts Group which was fully written off in 2023, In the
opinion of the Directors, as at year-end, the fair value of these investments is best represented by the
Group’s acquisition price, or the share of adjusted net asset value.

Movements in these investments are portrayed in the table below.
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Risk management objectives and policies - continned
35.6 Financial instruments measured at fair value - continaed

Measurement of fair value - continued

The Group

2023 2022

€000 €000

Level 3

At 1 January 5,373 6,598
Additions during the year - -
Fair value movements {1,962) (1,52%)
Ar 31 December 341 5,373

There have been no ransfers of financial assets between the different level of the fair value hierarchy.
35.7 Financial instruoments not measured at fair value

The table below provides information about the fair values of the Group's and the Company's non-curtent
financial instruments which are not measured at fair value 2and which bear interest at a fixed rate, For
financial instruments bearing interest at floating rates, management is of the opinion that the fair values are
not significandy different from the carrying value since the interest on these instruments already reflect the
current market rates and counterparty risk has not significantly changed.

The Group
2023 2022 2023 2022
€000 €000 €000 €000
Level 1 Level 3

Non-current assets
Financial assets at amortised cost
Loans to investee - - 5,348 5,565
Loans to associates - - - 2,485
Total - - 5,348 8,050
Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilivies
Bonds 334,067 317,575 - -
Shareholders’ loans - - 31,081 30,006
Total 334,067 317,575 31,081 30,006
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35,

36.

37.

Risk management objectives and policies - continued

35.7 Financial instruments not measured at fair value - contdnued

The Company
2023 2022
£000 €000
Level 3 '

Non-current Assets
Financial assets at amortised cost
Loans to subsidiaries 23,487 24,828
Loans to associates - 2,485
Total 23,487 27,313
Non-cutrent Liabilities
Financial liabilities
Shareholders’ loans 31,081 30,006
Loans from subsidiaries 36,403 35,702
Total 67,484 65,708

The bonds are classified as Level 1 hierarchy since they are listed in an active market and the fair values are
determined based on the marker price at the reporting date.

The fair values of the financial assets and financial liabilites classified as Level 3 hierarchy during 2023 were
calculated based on a cash flow discounted using the current lending rate for similar instruments ac the
reporting date. They are classified as Level 3 hierarchy due to the use of vnobservable inputs including
counterparty risk. Management considers the carrying amounts of these instruments for the comparative
period presented to be a reasonable estimare of their fair values due to insignificant changes in the interest
rates and counterparty risks.

The directors consider the carrying amount of the trade and other receivables, assets placed under trust
arrangement and trade and other payables to be a reasonable esdmate of their fair value principally in view
of the relatively short periods to repricing or maturity from the end of the repotting petiods.

Ultimate controlling party

The Company is the ultimate parent of the Corinthia Group.

In view of its shareholding seructure, the Group and the Company have no ultimate controlling party.
Events after the repotting period

In March 2024, the Group leased out the Cofinthia Hotel Prague, a 550-room high-rise hotel in Prague,

which the Group has owned and operated since 1998. Consequently, as from 1 April 2024, this hotel will
be debranded and transferred 1o Investment Property.
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